Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing this collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or art this burden to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports 4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty valid OMB control number. PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR FORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS. 1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY) 2. REPORT TYPE 14-02-2003 Final Technical Report 4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE The Quantum 1/f Effect and of Other Fluctuations in the Radiation-Hardening of Multiple-Satellite Systems	15 May 2000 -14 Febr. 5a. CONTRACT NUMBER	the sing 2- ently 2003
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY) 2. REPORT THE 14-02-2003 Final Technical Report 4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Investigation of the Quantum 1/f Effect and of Other Fluctuations in the Radiation-Hardening of Multiple-	15 May 2000 -14 Febr. 5a. CONTRACT NUMBER	ently
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY) 2. REPORT THE 14-02-2003 Final Technical Report 4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Investigation of the Quantum 1/f Effect and of Other Fluctuations in the Radiation-Hardening of Multiple-	15 May 2000 -14 Febr. 5a. CONTRACT NUMBER	2003
14-02-2003Final Technical Report4. TITLE AND SUBTITLEInvestigation of the Quantum 1/f Effect and of OtherFluctuations in the Radiation-Hardening of Multiple-	15 May 2000 -14 Febr. 5a. CONTRACT NUMBER	2003
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Investigation of the Quantum 1/f Effect and of Other Fluctuations in the Radiation-Hardening of Multiple-	r	
Investigation of the Quantum 1/f Effect and of Other Fluctuations in the Radiation-Hardening of Multiple-	r 55 GRANT NUMBER	
Fluctuations in the Radiation-Hardening of Multiple-	5b GRANT NUMBER	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	F49620-00-1-0306	
	5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBE	:R
6. AUTHOR(S)	5d. PROJECT NUMBER	
Peter H. Handel	5e. TASK NUMBER	
	5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER	
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) University of Missouri-St. Louis 8001 Natural Bridge Rd. St. Louis, MO 63121	8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NUMBERS-5-34218	REPORT
9. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) AFOSR 4015 Wilson Blvd.	20030508	086
Arlington, VA 22203-1954		
	NUMBER(S)	
AVALOVED FOR PUBLIC RELI DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED 13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	EAST,	
14. ABSTRACT The author's quantum 1/f noise formulas were used principles analytically, and to graph as a function of the absorbed dose, the rat type devices, such as junction-based photodetectors, BJTs, HBTs, mixers, etc such as FETs, or HFETs, yielding even a reduction of the equilibrium 1/f noise low radiation dose, and favoring them for radiation hardening. The same there derive simple engineering formulas for the quantum 1/f effect in the radiation allows for the optimization of the directivity of antenna arrays or of the response formulas were adapted and used here for the first time to derive and quantum 1/f optimization of GaN/AlGaN HFETs, RTDs, biological and chen various silicon MEMS resonators, all types of spintronic devices, cavity resonse miconductor devices. This allows optimizing all these devices and systems with staggering impact on major DOD instrumentation performance.	radiation-induced 1/f noise increase in jun- tc. The same is done also for FET-type of bise expected in high-mobility semiconduct eory was adapted and used here for the fir on resistance of antennas from first princip bonse from multiple satellite systems in spi- nalytical engineering formulas allowing for emical resonant BAW and SAW quartz ser onators, nano-devices and bent ultra-thin his for ultra-low 1/f noise and system phase pise, Sensors, HFETs, RTDs, BJTs palance, Radiation hardening, N	ction- devices, etors for st time to oles. This ace. or the nsors, e noise, s, MEMs
15. SUBJECT TERMS Quantum 1/f noise, 1/f Noise, Phase noise, resonators, BAW and SAW quartz resonators, Quartz microbase, Spintronics, Spin polarized transport, Oscillators, Resonant transport, Oscillators, Resonant transport, Oscillators, Resonant transport, Oscillators, Resonant transport, Oscillators, Resonant, Oscil	Inators, Leeson formula, Satell 18. NUMBER 19a. NAME OF RESPONSIE OF PAGES Dr. Gerald L. Wit	ites BLE PERSON

•

•

,

.

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18 INVESTIGATION OF THE QUANTUM 1/F EFFECT AND OF OTHER FLUCTUATIONS IN THE RADIATION-HARDENING OF MULTIPLE-SATELLITE SYSTEMS

Grant No. F49620-00-1-0306 Final Technical Report Submitted to the Air Force Office of Scientific Research

by

Peter H. Handel Department of Physics and Astronomy University of Missouri St. Louis 8001 Natural Bridge Road, St. Louis, MO. 63121

February 14, 2003

PERIOD COVERED: May 15, 2000 to February 14, 2003

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR: <u>Peter H. Handel</u>

TITLE: Professor of Physics

TELEPHONE NO.: (314) 516-5021; -6152 Fax

E-mail: handel@umsl.edu

ADDRESS: Physics Department, University of Missouri - St. Louis, St. Louis, MO. 63121

DURATION OF GRANT: 2.5 years

STARTING DATE: May 15, 2000

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A Approved for Public Release Distribution Unlimited

INVESTIGATION OF THE QUANTUM 1/F EFFECT AND OF OTHER FLUCTUATIONS IN THE RADIATION-HARDENING OF MULTIPLE-SATELLITE SYSTEMS

FINAL TECHNICAL REPORT SUBMITTED TO THE AIR FORCE OFFICE OF SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH

Peter H. Handel Department of Physics, University of Missouri, St. Louis, MO 63121 February 14, 2003

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A. STATUS OF EFFORT	3
B. ACCOMPLISHMENTS/NEW FINDINGS	4
B 1. Permanent Conventional Quantum 1/f Noise Reduction in Semiconductor	
Samples and FET/HFET-Type Devices Through Irradiation	4
B 2. Permanent Quantum 1/f Noise Increase in Junction-Type Devices	6
B 3. Transient Radiation Effects in Semiconductor Devices	8
B 4. Noise and Quantum 1/f Effect as Indicators of Radiation Damage;	
The Principle of Auto-Repair	8
B 5. Phase-Coherence and Low Phase Noise in Multiple Satellites	10
B 6. Quantum 1/f Effect in the Radiation Resistance of Antennas	12
B 7. Theory of Quantum 1/f Noise in GaN/Al ₀₁₅ Ga ₀₈₅ N HFETs	14
B 8. Phase Noise in RTDs and in Oscillators Based on Them	
up to THz Frequencies	20
B 9. Quantum 1/F Effect in Biological and Chemical Piezoelectric Sensors	24
9.1. Introduction: application of the conventional quantum 1/f effect,	
a new aspect of quantum mechanics	25
9.2. Quartz crystal microbalances	27
9.3. Saw sensors	28
9.4. Silicon MEMS resonator sensors	31
B10. Coherent Quantum 1/f Effect In Cavity Resonators	35
B11. Generalization of Leeson's Formula	36
B12. Quantum 1/f Proximity Effect in Nanotechnology	37
B13. Low-Frequency Noise in Bent Ultra-Thin Semiconductors	41
B14. Quantum 1/f Effect in Spin-Polarized Transport and Spintronic Devices	45
C. CONCLUSIONS AND RELEVANCE FOR U.S. AIR FORCE, DOD	
AND CIVILIAN APPLICATIONS	46
D. PAPERS WRITTEN/PUBLICATIONS	48
E. BIBLIOGRAPHY	51

INVESTIGATION OF THE QUANTUM 1/F EFFECT AND OF OTHER FLUCTUATIONS IN THE RADIATION-HARDENING OPTIMIZATION OF MULTIPLE-SATELLITE SYSTEMIS FINAL TECHNICAL REPORT SUBMITTED TO THE US AIR FORCE OFFICE OF SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH

A. STATUS OF EFFORT

We have performed an investigation of electronic 1/f noise at in the materials, devices and systems relevant to the US Air Force including the resulting phase noise, focusing on the effects of irradiation with γ -rays, neutrons, β and α particles. This also includes effects on arrays of satellites in space. The investigation used the author's quantum 1/f formulas. Our calculations indicate that low dose levels can under certain conditions lower the quantum 1/f noise of FET-type devices in which the mobility of the carriers is limited by electron-phonon scattering. Analytical expressions and graphical representation have been obtained. The latter show qualitatively the decreasing dependence of 1/f noise on the absorbed radiation dose. For junction devices, a linear increase of 1/f noise with the absorbed dose is obtained.

Phase noise is important for the Air Force. A 10 dB reduction in the noise floor will reduce the bit-error-rate by a factor of 10^{-6} in DSP systems that process real-time inputs in an aerospace battle environment. In a Doppler radar, from the R⁴ law, a 24 dB reduction in the noise floor corresponds to a 4 fold increase in range R. Special emphasis was thus placed on quantum 1/f phase noise in RF and microwave devices, oscillators and systems in general. Leeson's formula was modified for this purpose radically by the inclusion of a new term proportional to the inverse fourth power of the loaded quality factor. This is essential for all high-stability systems. The present Technical Report discusses also the phase noise requirements for an array of satellites, and the physical basis of electronic noise control in radiation hardening. It is demonstrated that the quantum 1/f phase noise in the transmitters on individual satellites leads to an increased width of the coherent beam emitted by the array.

The new effect of quantum 1/f noise in the radiation resistance of antennas is introduced. This is important for low-power cosmic distance transmissions with highly directional, very well tuned antennas. It results in a 1/f spectral density of radiation resistance fluctuations inversely proportional to the quality factor of the antenna. The effect resonance frequency fluctuations in the antenna were found to be inversely proportional to the fifth power of the antenna quality factor. Solid state microwave generators of increased power can be obtained by using wide-bandgap materials, such as GaN. We have obtained from first principles an analytical formula for quantum 1/f noise in GaN/AlGaN HFETs that agrees with the experimental data, and allows optimization of the device and system. It yields a strong 1/f noise increase with gate voltage.

1/f noise in resonant tunneling diodes (RDTs), biological-chemical sensors, spintronics and bent ultra-thin semiconductor samples or integrated circuits was also described for the first time with exact engineering formulas, allowing for their optimization. For RTDs, the 1/f noise is found to be proportional to the squared voltage V_v for which the valley in the graph of the current occurs. It has a spectrum of 10⁻⁷ for fractional current fluctuations at $V_v=0.4V$. The sensors are optimized by making them either very small compared with the coherence length of phonons in the quartz, or very large. Bending also increases noise in ICs based on junction devices and may decrease the noise in certain conditions for ICs based on FETs and HFETs.

B. ACCOMPLISHMENTS/NEW FINDINGS

B1. Permanent Conventional Quantum 1/f Noise Reduction in Semiconductor Samples and FET/HFET-Type Devices Through Irradiation

Introduction. This 1/f noise reduction is limited to very small samples, for which the conventional quantum effect is not masked by the coherent quantum 1/f noise; see [1]-[72] for both, including theory and experiment. It will be particularly noticeable in good samples and FET/HFET devices, that had a relatively high mobility, limited by lattice scattering, and become more defect-scattering-limited after the irradiation. The effect is observed only in stable samples or devices, i.e., at sufficient time after the irradiation. To verify the effect, the 1/f noise is measured at low temperature before irradiation. The sample is brought to room temperature, is irradiated, and kept at room temperature for a week. It is then returned to the same low temperature, and measured under the same conditions as before, to determine the 1/f noise in stable condition after the irradiation. The renewed cooling is necessary, because normally, even after a week the irradiated samples/devices are not stable enough to avoid the superposition of a dominant $1/f^2$ component caused by linear drift.

Derivation. In general, Matthiessen's rule allows us to write for the resulting carrier mobility μ

$$1/\mu = \Sigma_i (1/\mu_i),$$
 (1.1)

where μ_i is the mobility that would be observed if only scattering process "i" would act. The quantum fluctuations

$$\delta\mu/\mu^2 = \Sigma_i (\delta\mu_i / \mu_i^2), \qquad (1.2)$$

are multiplied by μ , squared, averaged (quantum expectation value) and referred to the unit frequency interval to obtain the spectral density of fractional fluctuations

$$S_{\delta u/u}(f) = \sum_{i} (\mu/\mu_i)^2 S_{\delta u/u}(f).$$
(1.3)

This is based on the statistical independence of fluctuations in the cross section or rate of the scattering process i from all others. All $S_{\delta u v \mu v}$ decrease ~1/N, with N the total number of carriers.

In particular, let n_o be the total concentration of all types of impurity and defect scattering centers, and n' the additional concentration of defect scattering centers introduced by the irradiation. Then Eq. (1.1) yields

$$1/\mu_{\rm o} = 1/\mu_{\rm od} + 1/\mu_{\rm l} \tag{1.4}$$

for the initial mobility, and

$$1/\mu = 1/\mu_d + 1/\mu_1 = (1+r)/\mu_{od} + 1/\mu_1, \qquad (1.5)$$

where $r=n'/n_{od}$ is the ratio between the additional defect concentration n' created by the irradiation and the pre-existing defect concentration n_{od} . We have assumed that if lattice scattering would be absent, the mobility μ_d expected after the irradiation would be reduced by a factor 1+r when compared with its initial value μ_{od} , present before irradiation. This is to be expected, since the frequency of scattering is proportional to n' and therefore with the absorbed dose of radiation J in Sv (sieverts)

n'= κJ ; $\kappa = \rho \sigma_d / E(\sigma_{tot} - \sigma_s)$, (1.6) where κ is a coefficient defined for the given semiconductor material of density ρ as the product of the atomic cross section for defect creation σ_d in bn (barns) with ρ in Kg/m³, divided by the energy of the particles in joules and by the total atomic effective absorption cross section $\sigma_{tot} - \sigma_s$. Here σ_s is the scattering cross section, while σ_{tot} is the total attenuation cross section, both in bn. Note that 1Sv is 100 rad, and 1 rad =100 erg/g. n' is obtained in m⁻³. Note that σ_d is dependent on the temperature of the lattice through a Debye-Waller factor for the part involving displacement of lattice points with creation of interstitials. For neutrons, σ_d includes the nuclear capture cross section, etc.

Initially, for the noise measurement before irradiation, we can thus write

$$S_{\delta\mu\mu}(f) = (\mu_0/\mu_{od})^2 S_d + (\mu_0/\mu_l)^2 S_l = (1 - \mu_0/\mu_l)^2 S_d + (\mu_0/\mu_l)^2 S_l$$
(1.7)

where $S_d = S_{\delta\mu d/\mu d}(f)$ and $S_l = S_{\delta\mu l/\mu l}(f)$ are the quantum 1/f spectral densities of fractional mobility fluctuations calculated for the elementary act of defect scattering of a current carrier, and for the elementary act of lattice scattering, respectively. On the other hand, after the irradiation, at the same temperature, in stable (in fact, metastable) conditions, we obtain

$$S'_{\delta\mu\mu}(f) = (1+r)^2 (\mu/\mu_{od})^2 S_d + (\mu/\mu_l)^2 S_l = (1-\mu/\mu_l)^2 S_d + (\mu/\mu_l)^2 S_l.$$
(1.8)

Neglect now that both S_d and S_l decrease like 1/N. From Eqs. (1.7) and (1.8) we derive the ratio

$$R = S'/S = [(\mu_{l} - \mu)^{2}S_{d} + \mu^{2}S_{l}]/[(\mu_{l} - \mu_{o})^{2}S_{d} + \mu_{o}^{2}S_{l}]$$
(1.9)

between the 1/f noise power after and before irradiation. Since $\mu < \mu_o$ and $S_d << S_1$, this ratio is less tan unity. Neglecting S_d , (because conventional quantum 1/f effect is proportional to the square of the scattering angle, and defect scattering is mainly small angle scattering) we obtain

$$R \approx \mu^2 / \mu_o^2; \qquad R \approx 1 / [1 + r(1 + \mu_o / \mu_1)]^2; \qquad R \approx 1 / [1 + (\kappa J / n_o)(1 - \mu_o / \mu_1)]^2 = 1 / (1 + AJ)^2, \qquad (1.10)$$

where $A = (\kappa/n_o)(1-\mu_o/\mu_1)$ is a constant (see Fig. 1). **Rms Q1/f noise is thus reduced like \mu..** On the other hand, if defect scattering was negligible before irradiation, $n_{od}=0$ and $\mu_o=\mu_1$. This yields

$$R = \mu^2 / \mu_o^2 + (1 - \mu / \mu_o)^2 (S_d / S_l).$$
(1.11)

This prediction of the quantum 1/f theory is remarkable, because it is counterintuitive. It is usually masked in the short run by the transient effects discussed in Sec. B3 below, and by relaxation of the defect concentration towards the equilibrium concentration. This relaxation contributes a large temporary $1/f^2$ noise spectral component, as does any linear drift present



Fig. 1. Dependence of the Noise Modification Ratio R on the absorbed radiation dose J

during the noise measurement. Note that the decrease can be stronger, since N is likely to go up.

B2. Permanent Quantum 1/f Noise Increase in Junction-Type Devices

Introduction. Junction-type devices contain pn junctions perpendicular to the current density vector. In this case, the current is determined either by diffusion, or, particularly at lower temperatures, by recombination in the space charge region of the junction (or by both, in the transition interval of temperatures). Quantum 1/f fluctuations in the diffusion constant (related to mobility fluctuations through the Einstein relation) and in the recombination rates, both at the surface and in the bulk, are causing the 1/f noise in this case. Not all carriers are involved, but only those emerging from the scattering or recombination process mentioned. Their number is N=I/ τ , where τ is the lifetime of the carriers, I the current through the junction, and e the elementary charge. Since the number of carriers enters in the denominator, the noise power is proportional to the first power of the current I for forward bias larger than kT/e, whereas it goes like I² in samples and FET/HFET devices. The main radiation effect comes now from the drastic reduction of the lifetime τ in the denominator, causing an increase of 1/f noise with irradiation in junction devices. There is also a small shift in the current limiting mechanism (mainly in the transition region) and a change in the quantum 1/f coefficient for diffusion/mobility fluctuations as mentioned in the previous Sec. B1, but that is usually a much smaller effect here. On top of everything are, of course, the large transient radiation effects to be discussed in Sec. B3.

Derivation. The lifetime of the carriers decreases with the radiation dose J

$$1/\tau = 1/\tau_{o} + \sigma v n' = 1/\tau_{o} + \sigma v \kappa J, \qquad (2.1)$$

where κ is the factor of proportionality introduced in Eq. (1.6) above, v is the rms speed of the electrons in the semiconductor, and σ is the well-known Conwell-Weisskopf cross section if the

defects are ionized. The 1/f noise is calculated below first for a pn junction.

For a diffusion limited n⁺-p junction the current is controlled by diffusion of electrons into the p - region over a distance of the order of the diffusion length $L = (D_n \tau_n)^{1/2}$ which is shorter than the length w_p of the p - region in the case of a long diode. If N(x) is the number of electrons per unit length and D_n their diffusion constant, the electron current at x is

$$I_{nd} = -eD_n dN/dx, \qquad (2.2)$$

where we have assumed a planar junction and taken the origin x = 0 in the junction plane. Diffusion constant fluctuations, given by kT/e times the mobility fluctuations, will lead to local current fluctuations in the interval Δx

$$\delta \Delta I_{nd}(x,t) = I_{nd} \Delta x \delta D_n(x,t) / D_n.$$
(2.3)

The normalized weight with which these local fluctuations representative of the interval Δx contribute to the total current Id through the diode at x = 0 is determined by the appropriate Green function and can be shown to be (1/L)exp(-x/L) for $w_p/L >> 1$. Therefore the contribution of the section Δx is

$$\delta\Delta I_d(x,t) = (\Delta x/L) \exp(-x/L) I_{nd} \delta D_n(x,t) / D_n, \qquad (2.4)$$

with the spectral density

$$S_{\Delta Id}^{-}(x,f) = (\Delta x/\tilde{L})^{2} \exp(-2x/L) I_{nd}^{-2} S_{Dn}^{-}(x,f)/D_{n}^{-2}.$$
(2.5)

For mobility and diffusion fluctuations the fractional spectral density is given by $\alpha_{Hnd}/fN\Delta x$, where α_{Hnd} is determined from quantum 1/f theory. With Eq. (8.1) below we obtain then [20] $S_{AT}(x,f) = (\Delta x/L^2) \exp(-2x/L)(eD dN/dx)^2 \alpha /fN$

$$\delta_{\text{AId}}(\mathbf{x},t) = (\Delta \mathbf{x}/L^2) \exp(-2\mathbf{x}/L) (eD_n dN/d\mathbf{x})^2 \alpha_{\text{Hnd}} / tN.$$
(2.6)

The electrons are distributed according to the solution of the diffusion equation, i.e.

$$N(x) = [N(0) - N_p] \exp(-x/L); \qquad dN/dx = -\{[N(0) - N_p]/L\} \exp(-x/L).$$
(2.7)

Substituting into Eq. (2.6) and simply summing over the uncorrelated contributions of all intervals Δx , we obtain

$$S_{Id}(f) = \alpha_{Hnd} (eD_n/L^2)^2 \int [N_o - N_p]^2 e^{-4x/L} dx / \{ [N(0) - N_p] e^{-x/L} + N_p \}.$$
(2.8)

We note that $eD_n/L^2 = e/\tau_n$. With the expression of the saturation current $I_0 = e(D_n/\tau_n)^{1/2}N_n$ and of the current I = I_0 [exp(eV/kT) - 1], we can carry out the integration

$$S_{Id}(f) = \alpha_{Hnd}(eI/f\tau_n) Jdu/(au + 1) = \alpha_{Hnd}(eI/f\tau_n) F(a).$$
(2.9)

Here we have introduced the notations

u = exp(-x/L), a = exp(eV/kT) - 1,
F(a) =
$$1/3 - 1/2a + 1/a^2 - (1/a^3)\ln(1+a)$$
. (2.10)

Eq. (2.9) gives the diffusion noise as a function of the quantum 1/f noise parameter $\alpha_{\mu nd}$. A similar result can be derived for the quantum 1/f fluctuations of the recombination rate r in the bulk of the p - region, the only difference being the presence of α_{Hnr} instead of αH_{nd} in Eq. (2.9). The total noise is the given by Eq. (2.9) with α_{Hnd} replaced by the sum $\alpha_{Hnd} + \alpha_{Hnr}$

$$S_{Id}(f) = (\alpha_{Hnd} + \alpha_{Hnr})(eI/f\tau_n)F(a).$$
(2.11)

From Eq. (2.1) we obtain for n'

$$S_{Id}(f) = (\alpha_{Hnd} + \alpha_{Hnr})(eI/f)F(a)(1/\tau_o + \sigma v \kappa J), \qquad R \approx (1/\tau_o + \sigma v \kappa J), \qquad (2.12)$$

which clearly displays a linear increase of 1/f noise with the applied dose (Fig. 1).

The radiation-induced increase in the 1/f noise power of the emitter junction is the most important, because it appears increased by the square of the amplification factor β in the collector circuit. However, the noise increase in the collector junction yields also a considerable contribution. The overall increase will be given by a linear equation similar to what we have in Eq. (22) for a single junction. We conclude that according to the Q1/f theory, the junction devices will show a much larger noise increase. In the long run, as we noticed above, even a decrease of 1/f noise is likely in good FET/HFET devices.

B3. Transient Radiation Effects in Semiconductor Devices

These effects are mainly caused by a large flood of current carriers produced by γ -rays by internal photoelectric effect (e.g., excitation of electrons from the conduction band and from localized energy levels), by Compton effect and, if they have more than 1 MeV, also by pair formation. Just as we saw above for noise, this affects junction devices again more than FET/HFET devices.

Measures suggested here by us to prevent large damaging transients from BJTs and HBTs, would consist of inclusion of a sufficiently large, normally reverse-biased, pn junctions *both* before the emitter connection, *and* after the collector connection of a bipolar transistor. Both diodes are made particularly radiation sensitive, and have the other end grounded. The same effect mentioned above will occur then also in the diodes, and will provide a temporary shunt, thereby exactly compensating the extra currents to be expected from the transistor

B4. Noise and Quantum 1/f Effect as Indicators of Radiation Damage; The Principle of Auto-Repair

Radiation damage in electronic devices and integrated circuits was studied by many authors, in particular during the last 2 decades. Among the main specialists we mention R.D. Schrimpf for silicon devices and R. Zuleeg who pioneered the work on GaAs particularly important for VHSIC applications. An excess of As turned out to be useful for the automatic defect repair, or healing, mechanism. Electronic noise and the quantum 1/f effect can be used to indicate the presence of radiation damage and to trigger automatic repair actions through annealing, self-testing and self-reconfiguration. Furthermore they can be used to study the mechanism of cumulative radiation-induced damage for various types of particulate and electromagnetic radiation including γ rays, and for studying the time-dependent effects of large dose-rates.

A review of the literature shows an enormous amount of activity in the field of radiation

hardening during the last few decades, most of it published in the IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science. A detailed study of the more recent contributions [71]-[113], performed by the author, indicates that the present situation is dominated by empirism and by studies performed on a particular type of device, for a particular application or class of radiation exposure situations. Many results are reflecting the presence of $1/f^2$ components arising from the linear drift caused by the return of the system to a state closer to the true equilibrium state. Indeed, the power spectrum of a linear drift is known to be proportional to 1/f, and very large at low frequency, causing the total power spectral density to be steeper.

What seems to be missing is a fundamental, all-encompassing theory which can be easily applied to all situations. However, such a general theory is extremely difficult to create and may not be possible without empirical elements, and does not represent a reasonable alternative to using the experience of specialists who have worked in this field for a long time and have accumulated a tremendous experience. Nevertheless, for a more restricted domain of low-dose and low dose-rate radiation damage, such as caused by the unshielded cosmic and solar radiation background, the task is feasible, because we know the formulas describing shot, GR, thermal, non-fundamental 1/f, and quantum 1/f noise.

For instance, the occurrence of a lorentzian component (bump) in the noise spectrum, of the form

$$S(f) = 4\tau/(1 + 4\pi^2 f^2)$$
(4.1)

indicates the presence of carriers with the lifetime τ .

In the absence of pn junctions, the quantum 1/f noise does not change monotonously as a function of radiation dose at low radiation dose values. It first decreases and then increases when more radiation is absorbed. Indeed, in small monocrystalline probes and devices, with large mobility limited by lattice scattering, the presence of a small radiation dose causes defects which lower the conventional quantum 1/f noise because they introduce a larger fraction of low-angle scattering into a system dominated by large angle lattice scattering, including umklapp and intervalley scattering. This is noticed when we apply the formula

$$S_{\delta\mu/\mu}(f) = \sum_{i} (\mu/\mu_{i})^{2} S_{\delta\mu i/\mu i}(f)$$
(4.2)

which shows how the quantum 1/f effect in different scattering mechanisms determines the total quantum 1/f mobility noise spectrum. Indeed, the $S_{\delta\mu i/\mu i}(f)$ factors are proportional to the squared momentum change of the scattered carriers. Since the momentum changes are smaller in defect scattering, we expect an initial decrease of 1/f noise when small radiation doses are applied, provided the defects have become stable in time.

At larger radiation doses the current paths change, leading to increased quantum 1/f noise and increased accidental (non-fundamental) 1/f noise.

Micro-processors, comparing the actual noise spectrum with pre-calculated spectra stored in the memory, can therefore determine the presence and type of radiation damage. They can then trigger the optimal annealing process corresponding to the type of radiation damage at hand.

B5. Phase-Coherence and Low Phase Noise in Multiple Satellites

An array of satellites (Fig. 2), orbiting the earth with parallel antennas, can be used to selectively receive and/or emit electromagnetic waves from/into a very well defined direction whose angular width is given by the diffraction limit

$$\delta_0 \theta = \lambda / 2 \text{Nacos} \theta \tag{5.1}$$

in the absence of phase noise. This is caused by the uncertainty principle. Here a is the distance between the N satellites forming the array and θ is the angle between the direction of the beam and the normal to the linear array of N satellites. The length of the array is then L=Na and the mean phase difference between neighboring satellites is

$$\phi = 2\pi a \sin\theta / \lambda. \tag{5.2}$$

In the presence of phase noise of variance $\langle (\delta \phi)^2 \rangle$, the beam direction error $\delta \theta$ will be the sum of both errors: $\delta \theta = \delta_{\phi} \theta + \delta_{o} \theta$. The variance is therefore approximated by

$$\langle (\delta\theta)^2 \rangle = \langle (\delta_{\phi}\theta)^2 \rangle + \langle (\delta_{o}\theta)^2 \rangle = \langle (\delta_{\phi}\theta)^2 \rangle + (\lambda/2Na\cos\theta)^2.$$
(5.3)

From Eq.(5.2) we obtain

$$\delta_{\phi}\theta = (\lambda/2\pi a\cos\theta)\delta\phi. \tag{5.4}$$

Therefore, Eq. (5.3) becomes

$$<(\delta\theta)^{2} > = <(\delta_{\phi}\theta)^{2} > + <(\delta_{o}\theta)^{2} > = (\lambda/2\pi\alpha\cos\theta)^{2} <(\delta\phi)^{2} > + (\lambda/2N\alpha\cos\theta)^{2}$$
$$= (\lambda/2\pi\alpha\cos\theta)^{2}[<(\delta\phi)^{2} > + (\pi/N)^{2}].$$
(5.5)

It is thus desirable to reduce the phase noise variance to a value below the threshold $(\pi/N)^2$.

According to the quantum 1/f theory [1]-[72] and also for most non-fundamental forms of electronic noise present in oscillating systems and resonators included in the multiple satellites system, the frequency fluctuations are caused by fluctuations in the dissipation. Therefore, as first found by the author [14] in 1978, the spectral density of fractional fluctuations $\delta\omega$ in the frequency ω is

$$S_{\delta\omega/\omega}(f) = (1/4Q^4)S_{\delta\gamma/\gamma}(f).$$
(5.6)

Here $S_{\delta\gamma\gamma}(f)$ is the spectral density of fractional fluctuations $\delta\gamma\gamma$ in the dissipation rate γ , and Q is the quality factor of the resonant system, including resonator and oscillator. This resulting Q is close to the Q of the resonator, if a good resonator is used. The spectral density of fractional frequency fluctuations $S_{\delta\omega/\omega}(f)$ is connected to the spectral density $S_{\delta\phi}(f)$ of phase fluctuations by

$$S_{\delta\omega/\omega}(f) = (2\pi f/\omega)^2 S_{\delta\phi}(f)$$
(5.7)



Fig. 2: An antenna array generates a coherent superposition of beams from each antenna in the array, with a resulting angular width given by the diffraction limit $\delta_0 \theta = \lambda/2 \text{Nacos}\theta$ in the absence of phase noise.

Consequently, from Eqs. (5.5), (5.6) and (5.7) we obtain

 $\int (\omega/2\pi f)^2 (1/4Q^4) S_{\delta v/v}(f) df < (\pi/N)^2$

(5.8)

as the required condition to be satisfied by the maximal allowed noise spectral density of the electronic systems used. Here the integral is extended over the frequency interval defined by $f_0=1/T$ as the lowest frequency and f=1/t as the highest frequency. T is the reciprocal time of a given transmission into a well-defined direction. On the other hand, the upper limit can be extended to infinity, due to the factor f^2 in the denominator of Eq. (5.8), which insures rapid convergence.

The author has generalized Eq. (5.8) also to the case of a 2-dimensional array of satellites. For a three dimensional array, only certain emission directions are possible at any given frequency, so this case was not considered, because it does not allow a beam sweep at constant frequency.

In the presence of the cosmic and solar radiation, and of radiation caused by hostile actions, the satellites need an automatic radiation damage removal system operative at the level of individual devices, integrated circuits and macroscopic electro-physical as well as electrooptical components. This system can be based on several parameters, and can be optimized for the given performance criteria, including device level and system level stochastic noise and quantum 1/f noise. The latter is described for the first time as a result of this project, from first principles, in the next Section B6, below.

In addition, the satellites need to incorporate adaptive stealthing capabilities over several optical, microwave and radar frequency domains. This can be achieved on the basis of the method developed by the author in US Patent #185979: "Absorptive Coating for the Reduction of the Reflective Cross Section of Metallic Surfaces and Control Capabilities Therefor".

B6. Quantum 1/f Effect in the Radiation Resistance of Antennas

1. Introduction. It is well known that kinetic coefficients such as the electrical resistance of conductors and semiconductors exhibit quantum 1/f fluctuations caused by the quantum 1/f effect in the scattering cross sections of the current carriers. Is the radiation resistance of antennas an exception? The present Section tries to answer this question, and to suggest ways in which the quantum 1/f noise in the radiation resistance can be experimentally verified.

According to the general quantum 1/f formula [1]-[13] the spectral density of fractional fluctuations in any physical cross section or process rate Γ is

$$\Gamma^{-2}S_{\Gamma}(f) = 2\alpha A/f \tag{6.1}$$

with $\alpha = e^2/\hbar$ c = 1/137 and A=2($\Delta J/ec$)²/3 π . This is the quantum 1/f effect in any physical scattering rate Γ , and **J**=ev is the current of the scattered particles of charge e and velocity v. The "physical cross sections" and "process rates" are defined by us to contain the quantum 1/f fluctuations, in addition to the quantum mechanical expectation value. Here ΔJ denotes the current change caused by the scattering process.

2. Quantum 1/f antenna loss rate fluctuations. In the case of an antenna, the collective "scattering" process affected by quantum 1/f fluctuations is the process of radiation of one quantum of the antenna's oscillation energy quanta $\varepsilon = \hbar \omega$. Setting

 $\mathbf{a}\mathbf{J} = \mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}/\mathbf{d}\mathbf{t} = \dot{\mathbf{P}},\tag{6.2}$

where **P** is the vector of the dipole moment of the antenna of length a, we obtain for the fluctuations in the rate Γ of removal of oscillation energy quanta $\varepsilon = \omega \hbar$ from the main antenna oscillation mode, the spectral density

$$S_{\Gamma}(f) = \Gamma^2 4\alpha (\Delta \dot{\mathbf{P}})^2 / 3f\pi e^2 c^2, \qquad (6.3)$$

where $(\Delta \dot{\mathbf{P}})^2$ is the square of the dipole moment rate change associated with the process causing the radiative removal of a quantum $\varepsilon = \omega h$ from the main oscillation mode. To calculate it, with Ja = dP/dt, we write the energy W of the antenna mode in the form

$$W = n\omega\hbar = (1/2a^2)L_{eff}(dP/dt)^2 = (1/2a^2)L_{eff}(\dot{P})^2;$$
(6.4)

The factor two including the potential (capacitive) energy contribution is automatically included because we define $\dot{\mathbf{P}}$ here to represent precisely the amplitude of the antenna dipole moment rate of change, rather than the oscillating instantaneous value. Here L_{eff} is the effective inductance of the antenna dipole. Applying a variation $\Delta n=1$ which corresponds to the spontaneous emission of one quantum, we get

$$\Delta n/n = 2|\Delta \dot{\mathbf{P}}|/|\dot{\mathbf{P}}|, \text{ or } \Delta \dot{\mathbf{P}} = \dot{\mathbf{P}}/2n.$$
(6.5)

Solving Eq. (6.4) for $\dot{\mathbf{P}}$ and substituting, we obtain

$$|\Delta \dot{\mathbf{P}}| = (\omega \hbar a^2 / 2n L_{eff})^{1/2}$$
(6.6)

Substituting $\Delta \dot{\mathbf{P}}$ into Eq. (6.3), we get $4\alpha(\omega \hbar / 2nL_{eff})/3\pi e^2c^2$

$$\Gamma^{-2}S_{\Gamma}(f) = 2\alpha \hbar \omega a^2 / 3n\pi c^2 f L_{eff} e^2 \equiv \Lambda / f.$$
(6.7)

This result is applicable to the fluctuations in the radiative loss rate Γ of the antenna.

3. !/f Fluctuations of the antenna resonance frequency and radiation resistance. The corresponding fluctuations in the resonance frequency of the antenna are given by [14]

$$\omega^{-2}S_{\omega}(f) = (1/4Q^4)(\Lambda/f) = \alpha \hbar \,\omega a^2/6n\pi c^2 f L_{eff} e^2 Q^4, \tag{6.8}$$

where Q is the quality factor of the single-mode antenna considered.

Eq. (6.7) implies fluctuations of the radiation resistance of the antenna, defined by

 $\mathbf{R}_{r} = \mathbf{h} \, \mathbf{\omega} \Gamma / \mathbf{I}^{2}. \tag{6.9}$

The corresponding spectral density of fractional fluctuations of the radiation resistance R_r is thus the same

 $R_r^{-2}S_{Rr}(f) = 2\alpha\hbar \omega a^2/3n\pi c^2 f L_{eff}e^2 \equiv \Lambda/f$. (6.10) This can be further simplified. Indeed, if the antenna is left to ring out without excitation, the part of the energy decay rate caused by the radiation is given by

 $-dW/dt \equiv P_r = W/\tau. \tag{6.11}$

Equating the last 2 terms, one obtains

 $2(d^2P/dt^2)/3c^3 = L_{eff}J^2/2\tau.$ (6.12)

With

$$\mathbf{Ja} = \mathrm{dP/dt} \tag{6.13}$$

13

this equation becomes

$$L_{\rm eff} = 4\omega^2 a^2 \tau / 3c^3. \tag{6.14}$$

Substitution into Eq. (6.10) yields then

$$S_{\delta R/R} = [2n\pi f\tau \omega]^{-1} = [2n\pi f\omega/2\gamma]^{-1} = [2n\pi fQ]^{-1}.$$
(6.15)

Here we used the amplitude attenuation coefficient $\gamma = 1/2\tau$ and the antenna quality factor Q = w/2g = wt. Eq. (6.15) has all the earmarks of a basic quantum 1/f formula applicable with no change in all systems of units, with considerable generality. It should be verified experimentally. All other equations are easily translated from the Gaussian to the International System.

B7. Theory of Quantum 1/f Noise in GaN/Al0.15Ga0.85N HFETs

The present Section applies the quantum theory of 1/f noise to predict the 1/f fluctuations measured on GaN doped channel HFETs and to compare the experimentally measured values of the effective Hooge parameter with the theoretical value. This theory has been successfully used and verified by van der Ziel, used and developed by C.M. Van Vliet, M. Tacano, G. Bosman, K. Gopala, A. Widom, Y. Srivastava, S. Bandyopadhyay, A. Balandin, K. Wang, by us, and by many other authors.

7.1. Uniform channel approximation

To apply the theory, the HFET channel is first considered here to be similar to a parallelipipedic sample of dimensions 50mm gate width, 500Å channel depth and 1 mm gate length. In second approximation, the reduction in channel conductivity from source to drain is also taken into account, in order to find the effective quantum 1/f parameter that is to be compared with the measured Hooge parameter. In the uniform channel approximation we expect from the 2 1017 cm-3 doping level a number of electrons per unit channel length of

$$N'=50mm \neq 0.05mm \neq 2 \ 1017cm-3 = 5 \ 109cm-1$$
 (7.1)

at flatband. This allows us to find the "s"-parameter present in of the general quantum 1/f formula. This "coherence parameter" is the number of charge carriers in a thin salami-slice-like section of the sample. "Thin" means twice the classical radius $ro=e2/mc2 = 2.84 \ 10-13 \ cm$ of the electron. In our case, the parameter is

$$s = 2 \pm 5 \, 109 \, \text{cm} - 1 \pm 2.84 \, 10 - 13 \, \text{cm} = 2.84 \, 10 - 3.$$
 (7.2)

Knowledge of the coherence parameter s allows the calculation of the quantum 1/f noise parameter

ao =
$$[2a/p(1+s)]{s + (2/3)(Dv/c)2}.$$
 (7.3)

Here $\alpha = e^2/\hbar c = 1/137$. The terms in curly brackets correspond to the coherent and conventional quantum 1/f effect contributions respectively. The effective velocity change Δv of the current

carriers is present in the conventional term. It is determined by including the average quadratic momentum changes experienced by the current carriers in all scattering processes that limit the mobility of the carriers: impurity scattering, acoustical and optical phonon scattering, inter-valley scattering and umklapp-scattering. They are included with weights of $(\mu/\mu_I)^2$, where μ is the resulting mobility of the carriers and μ_I is the (larger) mobility that would be obtained if only the scattering process labeled with the subscript I would be active. The applicable formula is

$$\left(\Delta \mathbf{v}/c\right)^2 = \Sigma_{\mathbf{I}} \left(\mu/\mu_{\mathbf{I}}\right)^2 \left(\Delta \mathbf{v}/c\right)_{\mathbf{I}}^2. \tag{7.4}$$

The velocity change $(\Delta v/c)_l^2$ is the appropriate average over the occupied energy levels in the band in which the carriers are located energetically. In our case it is the conduction band for electrons in the channel of the HFET. This complicates a more exact calculation of the conventional 1/f term somewhat, unless it is a semiconductor material for which such calculations have been performed already. Usually it is sufficient to estimate the conventional quantum 1/f noise by including the largest contribution, which is from umklapp or inter-valley scattering. In our case this yields for the GaN channel the second term in curly brackets in the form

$$(2/3)(\hbar G/cm_{eff})^2 = (2/3)(\hbar 2\pi/acm_{eff})^2 = (2/3)[h/c3.2 \ 10^{-8} cm \times 0.2m_e]^2 = 4.5 \ 10^{-4}.$$
 (7.5)

However, according to Eq. (7.2), the coherent quantum 1/f vestige given by the first term s in curly brackets is more than six times larger. This places us in the difficult transition region between coherent and conventional quantum 1/f effect. In that situation, due to the proportionality of s with the number of carriers N' per unit length, due to s<<1 being negligible in the denominator, and due to the preponderance of the coherent quantum 1/f term, the measured 1/f noise (Hooge) parameter will be proportional to N', as indicated by Eq. (7.3). This accounts for the increase of the experimentally determined α_H with V_G^* that is evident in Table 1 of the previous paper, as we shall see in detail below. Indeed, V_G^* is the amount by which the gate voltage V_G exceeds its threshold value V_T . The number of carriers N' per unit of channel length is known to increase with V_G^* .

$$2\alpha/\pi(1+s) = 2/137\pi(1+s) = 4.65 \ 10^{-3}.$$
(7.6)

The two terms, coherent and conventional, in Eq. (7.3) yield

$$\alpha_{\rm o} = [2\alpha/\pi(1+s)] \{ s + (2/3)(\Delta v/c)^2 \} = 1.32 \ 10^{-5} + 4.55 \ 10^{-6} = 1.78 \ 10^{-5}$$
(7.7)

for the resulting quantum 1/f parameter at flatband.

In the previous experiments [121] the applied drain voltage used to measure the Hooge parameter was V_{DS} =5V. This caused the channel cross section and the number of carriers per length unit to decrease dramatically from source to drain. Nevertheless, the effective Hooge constant was defined in terms of a constant channel cross section and carrier concentration. Therefore, either the measured Hooge constant needs to be corrected for channel non-uniformity, or the calculated quantum 1/f parameter must be adjusted for channel non-uniformity. Both

ways allow for a meaningful comparison of the Hooge parameter with the resulting quantum 1/f parameter. We choose the first path because it yields Hooge parameters which can be better compared with those found in other devices with different geometry. In general, we choose to compensate for geometrical effects and to obtain geometry-independent results with universal applicability.

7.2. Below saturation: effect of channel non-uniformity

Using notations similar to those chosen in Warner and Grung, Eq. 5-9 in [122], we will describe the effect of a small channel non-uniformity on the observed 1/f noise. We choose the y-axis along the electronic drift. The latter occurs over a distance Y slightly longer than the 50 μ m gate length, from source to drain. The x-axis is oriented vertically down from the gate along the channel thickness X, and the z-axis is also across the current, along the (usually larger) gate width Z.

a. Approximation neglecting the statistical distribution of the carriers

In this approach, the number of charge carriers is simply approximated by the net induced charge, divided by the charge of the electron. This approximation is limited to above-threshold conditions below saturation, neglects the conductance from carriers of both signs that compensate their charges, and neglects the Fermi statistical distribution of carriers. It is certainly not applicable when the number of carriers, or the conductance predicted, approach, or actually become, negative or zero. With these limitations, the element of resistance dR along the current can be written, [122], [123]

$$dR = dy/q\mu N' = \frac{dy}{Z\mu_{n}C[V_{GS}-V_{T}-V(y)]} , \qquad (7.8)$$

where μ_n is the electron mobility, C the gate capacity per unit area, $V_{GS} = V_G - V_S$ the gate to source voltage, V_T the threshold value of V_{GS} , and V(y) the potential the channel at a distance y from the source, or Y-v from the drain. Note that the rectangular bracket in the denominator is a first approximation only, based on the simple capacitor model. In general, as we shall see below, Fermi statistics is applicable, essentially replacing the bracket [] by $k_BT\{exp([]/k_BT) - 1\}$, where k_B is Boltzmann's constant. The quantum 1/f noise in the element of resistance is given by the basic quantum 1/f formula for mobility fluctuations

$$\frac{\langle (\delta dR)^2 \rangle_f}{(dR)^2} = \frac{\alpha_o}{f dN} , \qquad (7.9)$$

where dN is the number of carriers in the element of resistance

$$dN = ZQ_n dy/q \tag{7.10}$$

and $Q_n = -C(V_{GS}-V_T)$ is the charge per unit area under the gate, while q=-e is the charge of the electron. Using Eq. (7.8) for dR, and (7.10) for dN, we obtain

$$f < (\delta dR)^2 >_f = [dy/q\mu N']^2 \frac{\alpha_o}{fdN} = -\frac{q\alpha_o dy}{\mu_n^2 Z^3 C^3 [V_{GS} - V_T - V(y)]^3}$$
(7.11)

Multiplying on both sides with the channel current

$$I = -dV/dR = -Z\mu_{n}C[V_{GS}-V_{T}-V(y)]dV/dy$$
(7.12)

and integrating, yields

$$fI < (\delta R)^{2} >_{f} = \int_{0}^{V_{DS}} \frac{q\alpha_{o}dV}{\mu_{n}Z^{2}C^{2}[V_{GS}-V_{T}-V]^{2}} = \frac{q\alpha_{o}}{\mu_{n}Z^{2}C^{2}} \frac{V_{DS}}{V_{G}^{*}(V_{G}^{*}-V_{DS})} .$$
(7.13)

Here $V_G^* = V_{GS} \cdot V_T$. This simple summation of spectra is justified, because both theory and experiment have shown that the fluctuations of the various elements dR are uncorrelated, down to the smallest experimentally accessible lengths, and down to the electronic correlation length. Dividing both sides with IR² and replacing V_{DS}/I by R on the r.h.s., we obtain

$$f = \frac{q\alpha_0}{R^2} = \frac{q\alpha_0}{\mu_n Z^2 C^2 R V_G^* (V_G^* - V_{DS})} = \frac{q\alpha_0}{Z C V_G^* R} \left[\frac{dR}{dy}\right]_D = \frac{q\mu_n \alpha_0}{R} \left[\frac{dR}{dy}\right]_S \left[\frac{dR}{dy}\right]_D, \quad (7.14)$$

where we have used Eq. (7.8) at y=L and $V(y) = V_{DS}$, the drain potential, to define the drain value $[dR/dy]_D$ of [dR/dy]. At y=0 we have V(y) = 0 and we define there in the same way $[dR/dy]_S$. Note also that multiplication of Eq. (7.12) with dy, followed by integration from 0 to L yields in this approximation, with the stringent limitations mentioned above, the expression of the channel resistance

$$R = (L/Z\mu_n C)/(V_G^* - V_{DS}/2)$$
(7.15)

that is present in the above equations.

b. Inclusion of Fermi statistics below saturation

Introducing Fermi statistics, for a $GaN/Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ doped n-channel HFET the number of carriers per unit length N' of the 2-dimensional channel is written in the form

$$N' = ZDV_{th} \log\{1 + \exp[(V_{G}^{*} - V)/V_{th}]\}.$$
(7.16)

Here $D_{eff}=qm/\pi\hbar$ is q times the effective density of states per unit area. Multiplying Eq. (7.13) by I/f, this yields the spectral density of V_{DS} fluctuations in terms of device width Z, channel current I, and thermal voltage $V_{Th}=kT/q$

$$<(\delta V_{DS})^{2}>_{f} = (|I|/fZ^{2}D_{eff}qV_{th}) \int_{X_{0}}^{X_{1}} (\alpha_{H} / \mu_{n})[dX / (X-1)\ln^{2} X]; \qquad (7.17)$$

12, 171

.

$$X \equiv 1 + \exp(\frac{V_{G}^{*} - V}{V_{th}}).$$
 (7.18)

Here X_0 and X_1 are the values of X at the source (V=0) and at the drain (V=V_{DS}), while $\alpha_H = \alpha_0(y)$ is a y-dependent form of the quantum 1/f coefficient introduced in Eq. (7.7) above. For $(V_G^* - V)/V_{tb} <<1$,

$$X-1=(V_{G}^{*}-V)/V_{th},$$
 (7.19)

and the linear approximation of Eqs. (7.11)-(7.13) is regained for a 2D quantized channel.

Eqs. (7.13)-(7.17) are applicable if no saturation occurs. In general, part of the channel may be sub-threshold. In that case,

$$fI_{Ch} < (\delta R)^2 >_f = \int_0^{v_{sut}} \frac{\alpha_{coh} dV}{q\mu N^2} + \int_{v_{sut}}^{v_{DS}} \frac{\alpha_{conv} qv_s^2 dV}{q\mu I_{Ch}^2} \approx \frac{\sqrt{2}}{q\mu} \int_0^{v_{DS}} \frac{\alpha_{H}(N') dV}{I_{Ch}^2/q^2 v_s^2 + Z^2 D_{eff}^2 V_{th} \ln\{1 + \exp[(V_G^* - V)/V_{th})]\}}$$
(7.20)

Eq. (7.20) includes the field dependence of α and μ , but neglects the impact ionization effect in the subthreshold section of the channel length. Using the fact that the velocity of the carriers shows strong saturation in that section, to include impact ionization effect, we split up the integral at V(y) = V_{G*}-V_{th} and write the corresponding second part of the integral in Eq. (7.20) separately, with the number of carriers per unit channel length defined as N' = I_{ch}/qv_s, where v_s is the saturation velocity, and α approximated by its coherent value, α_{coh} . We also can replace the ratio v(E)/E by 3.5 μ_0 , where μ_0 is the low-field mobility. The last form is an approximation in which the two denominators are added, allowing the larger one to prevail automatically, but keeping α in the general form given by Eq. (7.7). The middle form, with 2 terms, allows us to find a theoretical expression

$$\alpha_{\text{theor}} = \frac{I_{ch}L^2}{qV_{DS}^2\mu^2} \{ \frac{\alpha_H^{coh}I_{ch}}{qZ^2 D_{eff}^2 V_{th}V_{DS}} + \frac{\alpha_H^{conv}qv_s^2}{I_{ch}} (1 - \frac{V_G^*}{V_{DS}} + \frac{V_{th}}{V_{DS}}) \}$$
(7.21)

for the experimental Hooge constant defined by $\alpha_{exp} \equiv [S_V/V^2] L^2/Re\mu$. R is here the channel resistance and $V_{G^*} = V_{GS} - V_T$. The experimental values α_{exp} measured at $V_{DS} = 5V$ by Balandin et al. [121], are 4.9, 4.2, 11, 16 and 17, in units of 10⁻⁵ corresponding to V_{G^*} values of 2, 3, 3.45, 4.25 and 5 volts respectively. Eq. (7.3) yields in the same conditions the values α_{exp} shown in Table I and Fig. 3 below. The agreement is good, with no fudge factors.



and the

Fig. 3: Comparison of the quantum 1/f first-principles results + with the experimental results x of A. Balandin et al., on "Flicker Noise in GaN/AlGaN Doped Channel Heterostructure FETs", IEEE-Electron Device Letters <u>19</u>, 475-477 (1998).

ТА	B	I	Æ	I
		_	_	_

N	Aarkers						1	
V _G */1V		0	1	2	3	3.45	4.25	5
I _{DS} /1mA				1.9	2.55	3.1	3.8	4.9
$\alpha_{\rm H}^{\ theor} \cdot 10^5$	+	2.95	3	<u>3.6</u>	<u>5.0</u>	<u>7.0</u>	<u>9.91</u>	<u>16</u> (Eq. 7.21)
$\alpha_{\rm H}^{\ exp} \cdot 10^5$	X			2 1.9 <u>3.6</u> <u>4.9</u>	<u>4.2</u>	<u>11</u>	<u>16.0</u>	<u>17</u> (Balandin)
$\alpha_{\rm H}^{\rm theor} \equiv [S]$	_v /V²] L²/	Reµ =					1	$\left(1 - \frac{V_G^*}{V_{DS}} + \frac{V_{th}}{V_{DS}}\right)\right\}$
$=\frac{L^2}{1\mu^2}$	$- \left(\frac{92.4 cm^2}{\mu_{eff}} \right)$	$\left(\frac{1}{V \cdot s}\right)^2 \cdot \left(\frac{1}{V \cdot s}\right)^2$	$\left(\frac{5V}{V_{DS}}\right)^2 \left\{2\right\}$	$2.4 \cdot 10^{-5} \left(\frac{50\mu}{Z}\right)$	$\left(\frac{L}{V}\right)^2 \frac{5V}{V_{DS}} \left(\frac{1}{1.9}\right)^2 \frac{1}{1.9}$	$\left(\frac{I}{mA}\right)^2 + 1.95$	$5 \cdot 10^{-5} \frac{\alpha_{H}^{conv}}{4.1 \cdot 10^{-6}}$	$\left(\frac{v}{10^7 cm/s}\right)^2 \left(1 - \frac{V_G^*}{V_{DS}} + \frac{V_{th}}{V_{DS}}\right)$

B8. Phase Noise in RTDs and in Oscillators Based on Them, up to THz Frequencies

8.1 Introduction.

For imaging and remote sensing applications, the phase noise of the THz generator must be minimized. This can be done as part of the optimization process on the basis of a properly chosen figure of merit. For this, the present Report provides an analytical phase noise expression as a function of the device parameters and operation point. The quantum 1/f theory is used to calculate from first principles the 1/f noise present in the device parameters and in the resulting system frequency from resonant tunneling diodes (RTDs), super-electronic lattice devices (SLEDs), Gunn devices (TEDs), and transit time diodes. In general, quantum /f fluctuations in the dissipative elements lead to a Q^4 dependence of the spectral density of fractional frequency fluctuations and of the corresponding phase noise, where Q is the quality factor.

Fluctuations with a spectral density proportional to 1/f are found in a large number of systems in science, technology and everyday life. These fluctuations are known as 1/f noise in general. They have first been noticed by Johnson in early amplifiers, have limited the performance of vacuum tubes in the thirties and forties, and have later hampered the introduction of semiconductor devices.

The present Section is focused on the general origin of fundamental 1/f noise as a universal form of chaos, and on the cause of its ubiquity. It starts with a *special case* of the general 1/f noise phenomenon, the Quantum 1/f Effect (with its conventional and coherent contributions) which is as fundamental as time and space. The 1/f fluctuations are a necessary consequence of the mathematical homogeneity of the dynamical (or physical) equations describing the motion of an arbitrary chaotic or stochastic nonlinear system. A sufficient criterion was derived by the author. It indicates if an arbitrary system governed by a given system of nonlinear integro-differential equations will exhibit 1/f noise. The criterion was applied to several particular systems, and is used to predict the fundamental quantum 1/f effect as a *special case*.

8.2. Conventional quantum 1/f effect

This effect¹⁻⁶ is present in any cross section or process rate involving charged particles or current carriers. The physical origin of quantum 1/f noise is easy to understand. Consider for example Coulomb scattering of current carriers, e.g., electrons on a center of force. The scattered electrons reaching a detector at a given angle away from the direction of the incident beam are described by DeBroglie waves of a frequency corresponding to their energy. However, some of the electrons have lost energy in the scattering process, due to the emission of bremsstrahlung. Therefore, part of the outgoing DeBroglie waves is shifted to slightly lower frequencies. When we calculate the probability density in the scattered beam, we obtain also cross terms, linear both in the part scattered with and without bremsstrahlung. These cross terms oscillate with the same frequency as the frequency of the emitted bremsstrahlung photons. The emission of photons at all frequencies results therefore in probability density fluctuations at all frequencies. Finally, these current fluctuations present in the scattered beam will be noticed at the detector as low frequency

current fluctuations, and will be interpreted as fundamental cross section fluctuations in the scattering cross section of the scatterer. While incoming carriers may have been Poisson distributed, the scattered beam will exhibit super-Poissonian statistics, or bunching, due to this new effect which we may call quantum 1/f effect. The quantum 1/f effect is thus a many-body or collective effect, at least a two-particle effect, best described through the two-particle wave function and two-particle correlation function.

Let us estimate the magnitude of the quantum 1/f effect semiclassically by starting with the classical (Larmor) formula $2q^2a^2/3c^3$ for the power radiated by a particle of charge q and acceleration **a**. The acceleration can be approximated by a delta function $\mathbf{a}(t) = \Delta \mathbf{v} \delta(t)$ whose Fourier transform Δv is constant and is the change in the velocity vector of the particle during the almost instantaneous scattering process. The one-sided spectral density of the emitted bremsstrahlung power $4q^2(\Delta v)^2/3c^3$ is therefore also constant. The number $4q^2(\Delta v)^2/3hfc^3$ of emitted photons per unit frequency interval is obtained by dividing with the energy hf of one photon. The probability amplitude of photon emission $[4q(\Delta v)^2/3hfc^3]^{1/2}e^{i\gamma}$ is given by the square root of this photon number spectrum, including also a phase factor $e^{i\gamma}$. Let ψ be a representative Schrödinger catalogue wave function of the scattered outgoing charged particles, which is a single-particle function, normalized to the actual scattered particle concentration. The beat term in the probability density $\rho = |\psi|^2$ is linear both in this bremsstrahlung amplitude and in the non-bremsstrahlung amplitude. Its spectral density will therefore be given by the product of the squared probability amplitude of photon emission (proportional to 1/f) with the squared nonbremsstrahlung amplitude which is independent of f. The resulting spectral density of fractional probability density fluctuations is obtained by dividing with $|\psi|^4$ and is therefore

$$|\psi|^{-4}S_{|\psi|^{2}}(f) = 8q^{2}(\Delta v)^{2}/3hfNc^{3} = 2\alpha A/fN = j^{-2}S_{j}(f), \qquad (8.1)$$

where $\alpha = e^2/\hbar c = 1/137$ is the fine structure constant and $\alpha A = 4q^2(\Delta v)^2/3hc^3$ is known as the infrared exponent in quantum field theory, and is known as quantum 1/f noise co-efficient, or Hooge constant, in electrophysics.

The spectral density of current density fluctuations is obtained by multiplying the probability density fluctuation spectrum with the squared velocity of the outgoing particles. When we calculate the spectral density of fractional fluctuations in the scattered current j, the outgoing velocity simplifies, and therefore Eq. (8.1) also gives the spectrum of current fluctuations $S_j(f)$, as indicated above. The quantum 1/f noise contribution of each carrier is independent, and therefore the quantum 1/f noise from N carriers is N times larger. However, the current j will also be N times larger, and therefore in Eq. (8.1) a factor N was included in the denominator for the case in which the cross section fluctuation is observed on N carriers simultaneously.

The fundamental fluctuations of cross sections and process rates are reflected in various kinetic coefficients in condensed matter, such as the mobility μ and the diffusion constant D, the surface and bulk recombination speeds s, and recombination times τ , the rate of tunneling j_t and the thermal diffusivity in semiconductors. Therefore, the spectral density of fractional fluctuations in all these coefficients is given also by Eq. (8.1).

When we apply Eq. (8.1) to a certain device, we first need to find out which are the cross sections σ or process rates which limit the current I through the device, or which determine any other device parameter P. Second, we have to determine both the velocity change Δv of the

scattered carriers and the number N of carriers simultaneously used to test each of these cross sections or rates. Then Eq. (8.1) provides the spectral density of quantum 1/f cross section or rate fluctuations. These spectral densities are multiplied by the squared partial derivative $(\partial I/\partial \sigma)^2$ of the current, or of the device parameter P of interest, to obtain the spectral density of fractional device noise contributions from the cross sections and rates considered. After doing this with all cross sections and process rates, we add the results and bring (factor out) the fine structure constant α as a common factor in front. This yields excellent agreement with the experiment in a large variety of samples, devices and physical systems.

Eq. (8.1) was derived in second quantization, using the commutation rules for boson field operators. For fermions one repeats the calculation replacing in the derivation the commutators of field operators by anticommutators, which yields¹⁻⁶

$$\rho^{-2}S_{\rho}(f) = j^{-2}S_{j}(f) = \sigma^{-2}S_{\sigma}(f) = 2\alpha A/f(N-1)$$
(8.2)

This causes no difficulties, since N \geq 2 for particle correlations to be defined, and is practically the same as Eq. (8.1), since usually N>>1. Eqs. (8.1) and (8.2) suggest a new notion of physical cross sections and process rates which contain 1/f noise, and express a fundamental law of physics, important in most high-technology applications.

We turn now to the connection to the coherent Quantum 1/f Effect, essentially caused by the uncertainty of the electron mass, by the coherent state of the field of the electron. The coherent state has an uncertain energy. The coherent state in a conductor or semiconductor sample is the result of the experimental efforts directed towards establishing a steady and constant current, and is therefore the state defined by the collective motion, i.e. by the drift of the current carriers. It is expressed in the Hamiltonian by the magnetic energy E_m , per unit length, of the current carried by the sample. In very small samples or electronic devices, this magnetic energy

$$E_{\rm m} = \int (B^2/8\pi) d^3x = [{\rm nevS/c}]^2 \ln(R/r)$$
(8.3)

is much smaller than the total kinetic energy E_k of the drift motion of the individual carriers

$$E_k = \sum_i m_i v^2 / 2 = n Sm v^2 / 2 = E_m / s.$$
 (8.4)

Here we have introduced the magnetic field B, the carrier concentration n, the cross sectional area S and radius r of the cylindrical sample (e.g., a current carrying wire), the radius R of the electric circuit, and the "coherece ratio"

$$s=E_m/E_k = 2ne^2S/mc^2ln(R/r) = 2e^2N'/mc^2,$$
 (8.5)

where N' =nS is the number of carriers per unit length of the sample and the natural logarithm ln(R/r) has been approximated by one in the last form. We expect the observed spectral density of the mobility fluctuations to be given by a relation of the form

$$(1/\mu^2)S_{\mu}(f) = [1/(1+s)][2\alpha A/fN] + [s/(1+s)][2\alpha/\pi fN]$$
(8.6)

which can be interpreted as an expression of the effective Hooge constant if the number N of carriers in the (homogeneous) sample is brought to the numerator of the left hand side. In this

equation $\alpha A=2\alpha(\Delta v/c)^2/3\pi$ is the usual nonrelativistic expression of the infrared exponent, present in the familiar form of the conventional quantum 1/f effect [1]-[10]. This equation is limited to quantum 1/f mobility (or diffusion) fluctuations, and does not include the quantum 1/f noise in the surface and bulk recombination cross sections, in the surface and bulk trapping centers, in tunneling and injection processes, in emission or in transitions between two solids.

Note that the coherence ratio s introduced here equals the unity for the critical value N' = $N'' = 2 \cdot 10^{12}$ /cm., e.g. for a cross section S = $2 \cdot 10^{-4}$ cm² of the sample when n = 10^{16} . For small samples with N'<<N'' only the first term survives, while for N'>N'' the second term in Eq. (8.6) is dominant.

8.3 1/f Fluctuations in RTDs

Resonant tunneling diodes have been proposed as generators of THz oscillations and radiation. They consist of two potential barriers enclosing a quantum well. Electrons penetrating the potential barriers by tunneling are controlled by the quasistationary energy levels defined by the penetrating the potential barriers by tunneling are controlled by the quasistationary energy levels defined by the potential well. If their energy is close to the first energy level in the well, resonance occurs, and a peak I_P of the current through the diode occurs. This corresponds to an applied bias voltage V_P . If, however, the applied voltage increases further, only a negligibly small non-resonant current trickle remains at the voltage $V=V_V$ and a broad valley is observed in the I/V characteristic. Scattering processes that reduce the energy of the carriers to a value close to eV_P will always be present, generating a finite current minimum I_V at V_V . Between V_P and V_V there is a negative differential conductance

 $G=-(I_P-I_V)/(V_V-V_P)$

on the I/V curve, that is used to generate oscillations. The 1/f noise in I_V is given by Eqs. (8.1)-(8.2) with

$$(\Delta \mathbf{v}/c)^2 = 2eV_V/m. \tag{8.8}$$

Taking for instance V_P=0.4 V, I_P=2.5 10^{8} A/m², V_V=0.6 V, I_V=4 10^{7} A/m², we obtain with m_{eff}=0.068 m_o,

$$NI_V^{-2}S_{I_v}(f) = 2\alpha A/f = 7.4/0.068 \ 10^{-9} = 1.3 \ 10^{-7}$$
(8.9)
N is given by
 $N = \tau I_V/e,$
(8.10)

where τ is the lifetime of the carriers. With a cross-sectional area of 10⁻⁶ cm² and τ =10⁻¹⁰, we obtain N= 2.5 10⁶.

Finally, the quantum 1/f frequency fluctuations can be obtained from the formula

$$\mathbf{S}_{\delta\omega\omega} = (1/4\mathbf{Q}^4)\mathbf{S}_{\delta \mathbf{G}/\mathbf{G}} \tag{8.11}$$

which is derived in Sec. V below. This finally yields with Eq. (8.1)

$$S_{\delta \alpha / \alpha} = (1/4Q^4)(4\alpha/3\pi)(2eV_v/mc^2)$$
(8.12)

for the fractional frequency fluctuation spectrum exhibited by the RTD if included in an RF

circuit of quality factor Q.

الدين الدين الأنبية الجاري. المحملة بسرائر الإنتيانية الوالة

8.4 Appendix: frequency and phase fluctuations from 1/f noise in dissipation

Resonant systems can be described as a harmonic oscillator with losses

$$dx/dt + \gamma dx/dt + \omega_0^2 x = F(t).$$
(8.13)

The quantum 1/f fluctuations are present in the loss coefficient γ . They are given by an expression of the form

$$S_{\delta\gamma\gamma\gamma}(f) = \Lambda/f, \qquad (8.14)$$

where Λ is a quantum 1/f coefficient characterizing the elementary loss process.

The resonance frequency is given by

$$\omega_r^2 = \omega_o^2 + \gamma^2. \tag{8.15}$$

The quantum 1/f fluctuations in the resonance frequency are given by $\omega_r \delta \omega_r = -2\gamma \delta \gamma$, or

$$\delta\omega_r/\omega_r = -2(\gamma/\omega_r)^2 \delta\gamma/\gamma = -(1/2Q^2)(\delta\gamma/\gamma), \tag{8.16}$$

where $Q=\omega_r/2\gamma$ is the quality factor. Squaring, averaging and particularizing Eq. (8.16) for the unit frequency interval, we obtain the Q⁻⁴ law

$$S_{v}(f) = \langle (\delta \omega_{r} / \omega_{r})^{2} \rangle_{f} = (1/4Q^{4}) \langle (\delta \gamma / \gamma)^{2} \rangle_{f} = \Lambda / 4fQ^{4}, \qquad (8.17)$$

where y is the fractional frequency fluctuation $\delta \omega_r / \omega_r$. This law is also applicable to quartz resonators, where it was first introduced [14] in 1978. The phase noise is obtained from

$$S_{\phi}(f) = (\omega_r / 2\pi f)^2 S_v(f), \text{ or } L(f) = (1/2) S_{\phi}(f).$$
 (8.18)

two-sided. The examples in the last two sections show how the phase noise is to be found in other solid state sources of THz radiation.

B9. Quantum 1/F Effect in Biological and Chemical Piezoelectric Sensors

Piezoelectric sensors used for the detection of chemical agents and for electronic nose instruments are based on BAW and SAW resonators. They are also useful in the detection of biological agents, and can be specific, particularly if the sensitive surface is activated with the right antigen.

The BAW resonators are used for instance in the "quartz crystal microbalance" (QCM). This is usually a polymer-coated resonating quartz disk, a few mm in diameter, with smaller diameter metal electrodes on each side and with quality factor Q. The resonance frequency is usually in

the 10-30 MHz range. Absorption of gas molecules with mass δm on the surface of the polymer coating gets detected by a reduction of the resonance frequency of the quartz disk, subject also to fundamental quantum 1/f frequency fluctuations. The quantum 1/f limit of detection is given by the quantum 1/f formula for quartz resonators. To optimize the device we must avoid closeness of the crystal volume to the phonon coherence length which corresponds to the maximum error and minimal sensitivity situation. Differential measurements that include a reference resonator without polymer coating can effectively eliminate temperature fluctuations, power suply instability, etc. Adsorbed masses below the pg range can be detected.

Similarly, SAW resonators are used at about ten times higher frequencies in small sensors that operate best with sizes larger than the phonon coherence length. The discussion is similar, but applied to the surface and surface waves.

9.1. Introduction: application of the conventional quantum 1/f effect, a new aspect of quantum mechanics

According to the quantum 1/f effect, quantum-mechanical cross sections σ_0 and process rates Γ_0 are considered to be just the expectation values of the physical quantities σ and Γ , that also contain the quantum 1/f fluctuations. Therefore,

$$S_{\delta\sigma/\sigma}(f) = S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = (4\alpha/3\pi f)(\Delta v/c)^2 = 4\alpha(\Delta \mathbf{P})^2/3\pi f e^2 c^2$$
(9.1)

Here $\alpha = (1/4\pi\epsilon_0)(2\pi e^2/hc) = 1/137$ is Sommerfeld's fine structure constant, a dimensionless universal constant constructed from Planck's constant, the charge e of the electron, and the speed of light c

Phonon scattering in the resonator crystal was long suspected to limit the short- and mediumterm frequency stability in all crystal resonators [124]. Phonon scattering can occur on other phonons (particularly at higher temperatures) or on crystal defects (favored by default at low temperatures). In both cases this process is shown to yield a 1/f spectrum of resonator frequency fluctuations through the conventional Quantum 1/f Effect. As was first shown on this basis with the help of a simple harmonic oscillator model [14], bulk acoustic wave (BAW) and surface acoustic wave (SAW) quartz resonators ought to have a Q⁻⁴ dependence of their FM power spectrum. This has been experimentally verified by Gagnepain and Uebersfeld for BAW resonators [36] when they noticed their $1/Q^{4.4}$ law, and by Parker for the SAW case [37]. Although the quantum 1/f effect provided the historical basis for the derivation of the Q⁻⁴ law [14] as being caused by fluctuations in the dissipation rate of the quartz resonator, the exact mechanism through which the quantum 1/f effect modulates the dissipation rate remained unknown from 1978 to 1991.

Finally, the bridge directly connecting 1/f noise in frequency standards to the quantum 1/f effect was discovered [38]-[40], yielding simple quantum 1/f engineering formulas. In the present Section, this thorough understanding and knowledge is used to calculate the fundamental sensitivity limits of quartz resonator sensors used for the detection of biological and chemical agents.

Here is how it works. The rate Γ of phonon-interactions which remove phonons from the main quartz sensor's resonator mode is modulated by the quantum 1/f effect, therefore exhibiting observable (macroscopic) quantum fluctuations, while its expectation value remains constant. Indeed, whenever a phonon is removed from the main resonator mode, the time-derivative of the

polarization vector of the quartz crystal $dP/dt=\dot{P}$ is suddenly affected, suffering a step-like

modification as a function of time. From Maxwell's equations we know, however, that \mathbf{P} is added to the current J and that such a modification of the current causes radiation. Solving Maxwell's equations we find that as a result of the phonon removal there is a constant energy of

 $(1/4\pi\epsilon_0)^4(\Delta \mathbf{\dot{P}})^2/3c^3$ radiated away per unit frequency, interval, i.e. per Hertz at any frequency f. Dividing this result by the energy of a photon hf, we find that there is thus a probability of $2\alpha(\Delta \mathbf{\dot{P}})^2/3\pi fe^2c^2$ for the emission (radiation) of a bremsstrahlung photon of frequency f. SI

units are used here, while Gaussian units were used in [40].

Since there is a probability of $2\alpha(\Delta \mathbf{\dot{P}})^2/3\pi fe^2c^2 \ll 1$ for the emission of a bremsstrahlung photon of frequency f, the Quartz crystal suffers a reaction, or a recoil in its quantum state. This causes the phonon-emission rate Γ to perform quantum oscillations with frequency f and with two-sided spectral density S' of fractional fluctuations given by the same expression, S' $\delta\Gamma/\Gamma(f)$ =

 $2\alpha(\Delta \dot{\mathbf{P}})^2/3\pi fe^2c^2$. This is here the expression of the quantum 1/f effect. The one-sided spectrum is thus, as was mentioned in the last form of Eq. (9.1)

(9.2)

 $S\delta\Gamma/\Gamma(f) = 4\alpha(\Delta \mathbf{P})^2/3\pi fe^2c^2$.

This means that any radiation caused or implied by a quantum transition from one state to another comes with a price. It reacts back on the system, causing the rate of that transition to be modulated by exhibiting observable macroscopic quantum fluctuations. These have a spectral density of fractional rate fluctuations identical to the photon-emission probability accompanying the transition considered. No knowledge of quantum mechanics is therefore needed in order to apply the quantum 1/f effect, One has to divide the energy radiated by the energy hf of one photon of frequency f. This is based just the reality of Planck's constant h and Planck's relation between photon energy and frequency. Knowledge of electrodynamics is needed, however, in order to calculate the energy radiated in a transition.

The reader interested in a basic understanding of the quantum 1/f effect will find a most accessible description at the end of p. 8 and beginning of p. 9 in [54]. That description considers scattering of electrons as an example of transition which emits radiation and suffers a quantum 1/f modulation of its rate, rather than considering scattering of phonons, which, as we believe, is most important in crystal resonators. All that is involved in that derivation is the notion of DeBroglie wave associated to a particle, or the notion of wave function. Old quantum mechanics notions are thus sufficient for a basic understanding of the recoil, or energy-loss mechanism, of the quantum 1/f effect (Q1/fE). For a practical application of the Q1/fE, however, classical physics is sufficient.

9.2. Quartz crystal microbalances

Piezoelectric sensors are:

--Used for the detection of chemical agents and for electronic nose instruments; based on BAW and SAW resonators.

--Useful in the detection of biological agents, and can be specific, particularly if the sensitive surface is activated through deposition of a layer of the right specific antigen, that "attracts" a certain bacterium, microbe, or virus. The antigens are produced by organisms in order to fight, or bind, the pathogenic agents mentioned here.

Piezoelectric sensors are of 2 kinds: bulk acoustic wave (BAW) resonators-based, and surface acoustic wave (SAW) resonator based. The former are used for instance in the "quartz crystal microbalance" (QCM). This is usually a polymer-coated resonating quartz disk, a few mm in diameter, with smaller diameter metal electrodes on each side and with quality factor Q. Their resonance frequency is usually in the 10-30 MHz range, and 10 times higher for SAWs.

These sensors are based on the adsorption of many gas molecules (with total mass δm) on the surface of the polymer coating. This gets detected by a reduction

$$y = \delta v / v = -\kappa \delta m / m \tag{9.3}$$

of the resonance frequency of the quartz disk. However, the latter is also subject to fundamental frequency fluctuations. Here κ is a constant of proportionality. The quantum 1/f limit of detection is given by

$$\kappa^2 S_{\delta m/m}(f) = S_y(f), \tag{9.4}$$

where $S_v(f)$ is given by formulas [14], [38]-[40], [54]

$$S_v(f) = \beta' V / f Q^4$$
, for $V \le \varepsilon^3$, (9.5)

and

$$S(f) = \beta' \varepsilon^6 / f V Q^4, \text{ for } V \ge \varepsilon^3, \tag{9.6}$$

as we show below. Here ε^3 is the phonon coherence volume, first introduced empirically by T. Parker et. al. as a noise coherence volume.

To optimize the device we must avoid closeness of V with ε which corresponds to the maximum error and minimal sensitivity situation. (See the general graph in Fig. 4 below)

To reduce the measurement errors, one uses differential measurements, that include a reference resonator without polymer coating and subtract its frequency changes. This can effectively eliminate the destabilizing effect of temperature fluctuations, power supply instability, etc. This way, adsorbed masses below the $pg=10^{12}g$ range can be detected.

Calculation of the Quantum 1/f Sensitivity Limit

With $\langle \omega \rangle = 10^3$ /s being the average circular frequency of a thermal phonon interacting with phonons in the main resonator mode, with n=kT/ $\langle \omega \rangle \hbar$ being the average number of phonons in that typical thermal phonon mode, and with T=300K, we obtain approximately for

the quantum 1/f noise coefficient β ' in Eqs 5-6 (see below)

$$\beta' = (N/V)\alpha \hbar \langle \omega \rangle / 12n\pi g^2 mc^2 = (1/137)(10^{-27} \ 10^8)^2 / 12kT\pi 10^{-27} 9 \cdot 10^{20} = 1.$$
(9.7)

For $V < \varepsilon^3$, his is in good agreement with the known data for quartz resonators of very high Q as experimental results obtained by F.L. Walls et al., T. Parker et al., J.R. Vig et al., as well as other research groups indicate. Here m is the reduced mass of the elementary oscillating dipoles, N their number in the quartz resonator volume, and g a polarization constant of the order of the unity.

9.3. Saw sensors.

The same way, SAW resonators are used at about higher frequencies in sensors that operate in the $V>\epsilon^3$ regime. The discussion is similar, but applied to the surface and surface acoustic waves. In that case the coherence length of the phonons is smaller than the crystal size, and therefore we expect several incoherent noise contributions from various regions of the crystal.

a. Spatial incoherence of phonon loss rate fluctuations in low and intermediate Q resonators.

Considering the $v=V/\varepsilon^3$ independently fluctuating regions similar, we replace Eq. (8.1) by

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{V} \langle \delta\Gamma_i/\Gamma \rangle^2 \rangle_f = v^{-1} \langle \delta\Gamma_i/\Gamma_i \rangle^2 \rangle_f = 4\alpha (\Delta \mathbf{P}_i)^2 / 3\pi f v e^2 c^2.$$
(9.8)

Here we assumed that $\Gamma = \nu \Gamma_i$ and that $\langle \delta \Gamma_i / \Gamma_i \rangle^2 >_f = \nu S_{\delta \Gamma / \Gamma}(f)$ is independent of i. With $\nu = V/\epsilon$ we finally obtain

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = 4\alpha \varepsilon^3 (\Delta \mathbf{P}_i)^2 / 3\pi f \mathbf{V} e^2 c^2 = 4\alpha \varepsilon^2 (\Delta \mathbf{P}_i)^2 / 3\pi f \mathbf{A} e^2 c^2.$$
(9.9)

Note that the phonon mean free path is about 40 Å for bulk wave phonons in quartz at room temperature and 500 Å at liquid nitrogen temperatures. This approximates the phonon coherence length ε very well. For SAW phonons the corresponding coherence length values may be 4 times lower due to the smaller velocity of the surface wave and due to its stronger scattering. The wave is localized within about two coherence lengths ε from the surface. Therefore, in the incoherent regime V = 2 ε A is a good approximation. Consequently, we expect an increase of S_{δω/ω}(f) proportional with 1/A when the resonant area A is decreased, down to very small areas of the order of ε^2 .

b. Coherent Case of High-Q Resonators

From Eq. (9.2) we obtain

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = 4\alpha(\Delta \mathbf{P})^2 / 3\pi f e^2 c^2; \qquad (9.10)$$

The vibrational energy of the crystal can be written in the form

$$W = n \hbar \langle \omega \rangle = 2(Nm/2)(dx/dt)^2 = (Nm/e^2)(edx/dt)^2 = (m/Ne^2)\varepsilon^2(\mathbf{P}_i)^2;$$
(9.12)





The factor two includes the potential energy contribution. Here m is the reduced mass of the elementary oscillating dipoles, e their charge, g a polarization constant of the order of the unity, and N their number in the resonator. Applying a variation $\Delta n=1$ we get

$$\Delta n/n = 2|\Delta \mathbf{P}| / |(\mathbf{P}|, \text{ or } \Delta \mathbf{P} = \mathbf{P} / 2n.$$
(9.13)

Solving Eq. (9.12) for **P** and substituting into (9.13), we obtain

$$|\Delta \mathbf{P}| = (N \hbar < \omega > /n)^{1/2} (e/2g).$$
(9.14)

Substituting $\Delta \mathbf{P}$ into Eq. (9.2), we get

$$\Gamma^{-2}S_{r}(f) = N\alpha \hbar \langle \omega \rangle / 3n\pi mc^2 fg^2 \equiv \Lambda / f.$$
(9.15)

Using the harmonic oscillator relation

$$\omega^2 = \omega_0^2 - 2\Gamma^2, \ \omega\delta\omega = -2\Gamma\delta\Gamma; \tag{9.16}$$

between resonance frequency ω and dissipation Γ , we obtain

$$S_{\delta\omega/\omega}(f) = (1/4Q^4)S_{\delta\gamma/\gamma}(f) = (1/4Q^4)(\Lambda/f) = N\alpha \hbar < \omega > /12n\pi mc^2 fg^2 Q^4;$$
(9.17)

$$S(f) = \beta' V / f Q^4, \text{ for } V \le \varepsilon^3, \tag{9.18}$$

and

$$S(f) = \beta' \varepsilon^6 / f V Q^4, \text{ for } V \ge \varepsilon^3, \tag{9.19}$$

As was stated in Eqs. (9.5)-(9.6) above. Here, with an intermediary value $\langle \omega \rangle = 10^8$ /s, with n=kT/ $\hbar \langle \omega \rangle$, T=300K and kT=4 •10⁻²¹ J, we get

$$\beta' = (N/V)\alpha \hbar < \omega > /12n\pi g^2 mc^2 = 10^{22} (1/137) (10^{-27} 10^8)^2 / 12kT\pi 10^{-27} 9 \ 10^{20} = 1.$$
(9.20)

as stated above in Eq. (9.7).

c. The Case of Defect Scattering: a two-phonon process.

A phonon from the main resonator mode scatters on a defect and a phonon of comparable frequency emerges into another mode with much smaller phonon occupation number $n_{\omega}=kT/\hbar \omega$. In this case we have to replace $\langle \omega \rangle$ by ω and $n_{\langle \omega \rangle}$ with n_{ω} , which gives a β -value which is $(\langle \omega \rangle / \omega)^2$ smaller, i.e. 10^4 - 10^6 times smaller.

d. The General Case

With $\Gamma = \Gamma' + \Gamma''$, we obtain for the combined phonon and defect scattering case, in general,

$$\beta = \beta' [\Gamma'^2 + (\langle \omega \rangle / \omega)^2 \Gamma''^2] / \Gamma^2.$$
(9.21)

Although the defect scattering term is small at room temperature, it may become dominant at low temperatures, when the phonon scattering rate Γ' becomes much smaller than the defect scattering rate Γ'' .

Since the 1/f noise level depends on the active volume, in the coherent regime one should use the lowest overtone and smallest diameter consistent with other circuit parameters. In the incoherent (low Q) case the opposite should be considered.

9.4. Silicon MEMS resonator sensors

The classical forms of noise present in the frequency of microelectromechanical systems (MEMS) resonators, have been recently investigated and described in detail [123]. The present Section extends this investigation to 1/f noise. That is of fundamental nature in MEMS resonators, and is given by the universal quantum 1/f effect, with some similarities to the case of quartz resonators. When the environmental fluctuations are reduced, e.g., by temperature stabilization, elimination of molecular adsorption, etc., the fundamental limitation introduced by the quantum 1/f effect becomes visible as a flicker floor in the time-domain noise representation. Being ultimately based on Heisenberg's uncertainty relations, this effect defines the quantum limit achievable at low frequencies, when the classical sources of noise have been sufficiently reduced.

The quantum 1/f effect manifests itself in MEMS resonators through conventional quantum 1/f noise. This is a quantum fluctuation present in the quantum mechanical notion of "physical cross section" σ and "physical process rate" Γ , caused by the reaction of the electromagnetic field on the charged particle that emitted it, or in general, on the system that emitted it. It is given by the spectral density of fractional fluctuations, as in Eq. (8.1),

$$S_{\delta\sigma/\sigma}(f) = S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = (4\alpha/3\pi f)(\Delta v/c)^2, \qquad (9.22)$$

where Δv is the velocity vector change of the current carriers of charge e. As shown in the case of BAW and SAW quartz resonators, of ferroelectrics and of antennas, the rate Γ of interest for the calculation of 1/f resonance frequency fluctuations in Si MEMS is the rate of phonon removal from the main mechanical oscillation mode of the oscillating bar. As in the abovementioned cases, our mechanism of quantum 1/f noise generation is based on bremsstrahlung from electric or magnetic dipoles, rather than from scattering of individual carriers.

The MEMS resonators are shaped as a bar of micro- or nanometric dimensions incased (fixed) at both ends, and subject to bending strain. They are driven by an AC current I flowing in a very thin straight wire attached along the bar, in the presence of a strong constant magnetic field **B**, perpendicular to it. Alternatively, they could be driven electrostatically, or capacitively, by using the wire, or a metallic thin sheet deposited along that side of the bar, as one of the two "plates" of a capacitor. An AC voltage would then be applied to the capacitor at the resonance frequency. Note that in fact there is nothing resembling a bar in the actual MEMS devices. In practice there are comb resonators, "free-free" resonators, and probably others too (J. Vig., private communication). Details are found, e.g., in Clark Nguyen's publications, [126]-[131]. For simplicity, we continue to refer here to the idealized case of a bar, using effective dimensions that correspond to the actual geometry at hand.

The approach developed for the case of resonators based on quartz and other

piezoelectric substances can not be applied to Si MEMS resonators, because silicon is not piezoelectric. It could only be applied to piezoelectric MEMS resonators, using, for instance, quartz. We therefore develop a new approach in this paper, applicable to the new, driven MEMS resonators. We consider below both the case of magnetic excitation and the capacitive case.

A. Magnetic Excitation of a Resonant Silicon MEMS Bar

The elementary act of dissipation is the absorption of one phonon from the main resonator mode. This can happen either through three photon processes, dominant at higher temperatures, or through two processes, dominant at low temperatures, in the presence of crystal defects of various types. In both cases this elementary act has a spontaneous "bremsstrahlung photon emission (probability) amplitude" associated with it, because it causes a sudden reduction $\Delta \hat{\mathbf{m}}$ of the rate $d\mathbf{m}/dt \equiv \hat{\mathbf{m}}$ of change of the magnetic dipole moment of the system. The system is defined here to include the current carrying circuit, the applied magnetic field **B** with the agency generating it, plus the oscillating bar, i.e., the MEMS. The rate $\hat{\mathbf{m}}$ of change of the system is caused by bending oscillations of the bar with the current-carrying wire attached to its side, cutting the lines of force of **B** while it moves.

The conventional quantum 1/f noise in the rate of dissipation Γ is obtained in the CGS Gaussian system by simply replacing the current change $e\Delta v$ with $\Delta \hat{m}$

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = (4\alpha/3\pi f)(\Delta \mathbf{m} / ec)^2.$$
(9.23)

To calculate the change $\Delta \dot{\mathbf{m}}$, we note that $(\dot{\mathbf{m}})^2$ is proportional to the transversal vibration speed of the bar and to the total mechanical energy W=(n+1/2) $\hbar \omega$ in the main oscillation mode of the resonator,

$$(n+1/2)\hbar\omega = \kappa(\mathbf{\dot{m}})^2/2.$$
 (9.24)

Here κ is a coefficient of proportionality easy to calculate. When a phonon is removed from the main MEMS resonator mode, the energy in Eq. (9.24) is reduced by the amount

$$\hbar\omega = \kappa \dot{\mathbf{m}} \ \Delta \dot{\mathbf{m}} \ . \tag{9.25}$$

This yields

$$(\Delta \mathbf{\dot{m}})^2 = (\hbar \omega / \kappa \mathbf{\dot{m}})^2 = \hbar \omega / (2n+1)\kappa.$$
(9.26)

Eq. (9.23) becomes now

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = (4\alpha/3\pi f) \hbar \omega/(2n+1)\kappa(ec)^2 = \frac{4\omega/3\pi f(2n+1)\kappa c^3}{2} = 2\hbar \omega^2/3\pi fW\kappa c^3.$$
 (9.27)

This quantum 1/f noise, proportional to the resonance frequency and inversely proportional to the

number of quanta in the main oscillation mode, decreases when the energy in the main resonator mode increases. This is characteristic of quantum mechanical spontaneous emission noise in general. With $\omega = 10^{10}$ rad/sec and W=0.01 erg we obtain about $10^{-27}/f\kappa$.

To estimate the coefficient κ , we write the mechanical energy, including both the equally contributing kinetic and elastic components, in the form

 $W = M_{eff} v^2 / 2,$ (9.28)

where M_{eff} is a mass close to the mass M of the bar. Noting that the rate of change in the magnetic moment of the system, caused by the motion of the bar of length L with speed v, is

$$\dot{\mathbf{m}} = \mathbf{n} \mathrm{Sd}\mathbf{I}/\mathrm{dt} + \mathbf{n} \mathrm{Id}\mathbf{S}/\mathrm{dt} = \mathbf{n} \mathrm{SBLv}/\mathrm{cl} = \mathbf{n} \mathrm{SBLvc}/2 \mathbf{J} \ln(\mathbf{R}/\mathbf{a}_{\mathrm{s}}) \mathrm{ds}, \qquad (9.29)$$

we find

$$\kappa = M_{\text{eff}} v^2 / \dot{\mathbf{m}}^2 = M_{\text{eff}} [\text{cL}/\text{SBL}]^2.$$
(9.30)

Here we introduced the area S and the inductance L of the AC circuit. We also introduced the approximate expression of L in terms of an integral around the whole circuit. It involves the radius a_s of the cross section of the electric wire used for the AC circuit, as a function of the length parameter s along the wire. We neglected the term with IdS/dt, because S ω >>Lv. We can approximate S/2 $\int ln(R/a_s)ds$ with R/<ln(R/a_s)>, where R=S/l is the circuit area S divided by its length l. This way we obtain, e.g., R'=S/2 $\int ln(R/a_s)ds = 300$ cm as an order of magnitude, and c/R'=10⁸Hz. With these notations and approximations Eq. (9.30) becomes

$$\kappa = M_{eff} [c/R'BL]^2. \tag{9.31}$$

With Meff=10⁻¹¹g, L=10⁻³cm and B=10⁴Gauss, we obtain κ =10³cm⁻¹. Substituting into Eq. (9.6), we obtain

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = (4\alpha/3\pi f)(R'BL)^2 \hbar \omega/(2n+1)M_{eff}e^2c^4 = \underline{4(R'BL)^2\omega/3\pi f(2n+1)}M_{eff}c^5$$

=2(R'BL)² $\hbar \omega^2/3\pi fWM_{eff}c^5$. (9.32)

For instance, with the above numerical example, with $\omega = 10^{11} \text{s}^{-1}$, and with $W = 10^{-8}$ erg, we obtain $10^{-22}/\text{f}$.

B. Electrostatic Excitation of a Resonant Silicon Bar

The elementary act of dissipation is again the absorption of one phonon from the main resonator mode. This time, the quantum 1/f noise is caused by the sudden change in the rate of change of the dipole moment $\dot{\mathbf{p}}$ of the capacitor, when the phonon is absorbed. Replacing the current change $e\Delta \mathbf{v}$ this time with $\Delta \dot{\mathbf{p}}$, we obtain

$$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{\delta}\Gamma/\Gamma}(\mathbf{f}) = 4\alpha(\Delta \mathbf{\dot{p}})^2 / 3\pi \mathbf{f} e^2 \mathbf{c}^2.$$
(9.33)

To calculate the change $\Delta \dot{\mathbf{p}}$, we note that $(\dot{\mathbf{p}})^2$ is proportional to the transversal vibration speed of the bar and to the total mechanical energy W=(n+1/2)ħ ω in the main oscillation mode of the resonator,

$$(n+1/2)\hbar\omega = \kappa'(\mathbf{\dot{p}})^2/2.$$
 (9.34)

Here κ' is a coefficient of proportionality easy to calculate. When a phonon is removed from the main MEMS resonator mode, the energy in Eq. (9.34) is reduced by the amount

$$\hbar \omega = \kappa' \dot{\mathbf{p}} \ \Delta \dot{\mathbf{p}} \ . \tag{9.35}$$

This yields

$$(\Delta \mathbf{\dot{p}})^2 = (\hbar \omega / \kappa' \mathbf{\dot{p}})^2 = \hbar \omega / (2n+1)\kappa'.$$
(9.36)

Eq. (9.32) becomes now

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = (4\alpha/3\pi f) \hbar \omega/(2n+1)\kappa'(ec)^2 = \frac{4\omega/3\pi f(2n+1)\kappa'c^3}{2} = 2\hbar \omega^2/3\pi fW\kappa'c^3.$$
 (9.37)

This quantum 1/f noise, proportional to the resonance frequency and inversely proportional to the number of quanta in the main oscillation mode, decreases when the energy in the main resonator mode increases. This is characteristic of quantum mechanical spontaneous emission noise in general. With $\omega = 10^{11}$ rad/sec and $W = 10^{-8}$ erg we obtain about 10^{-19} /fk['].

To estimate the coefficient κ' , we write again the mechanical energy in the form

$$W = M_{eff} v^2 / 2.$$
 (9.38)

Noting that the rate of change in the electric dipole moment of the system, caused by the motion of the bar of linear charge density q is

$$\dot{\mathbf{p}} = qL\mathbf{v},\tag{9.39}$$

we find

 $\kappa' = M_{eff} v^2 / \dot{\mathbf{p}}^2 = M_{eff} / q^2 L^2.$ (9.40)

With Meff=10⁻¹¹g, L=10⁻³cm and q=0.6 esu/cm, we obtain κ '=2.7·10⁻⁵s²cm⁻³. Substituting into Eq. (9.15), we obtain

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = (4\alpha/3\pi f)q^{2}L^{2}\hbar\omega/(2n+1)M_{eff}(ec)^{2} = 4q^{2}L^{2}\omega/3\pi f(2n+1)M_{eff}c^{3}$$

= 2q^{2}L^{2}\hbar\omega^{2}/3\pi fWM_{eff}c^{3}. (9.41)

For instance, with the above numerical example, with $\omega = 10^{11}$ s⁻¹, and with W=10⁻⁸ erg, we obtain 3.6·10⁻¹⁵/f.

Finally, the quantum 1/f frequency fluctuations can be obtained from the formula

$$S_{\delta\omega\omega} = (1/4Q^4) S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}$$
(9.42)

which is derived in Sec. IV below. This finally yields with Eq. (9.41)

$$S_{\delta\omega'\omega} = (1/2Q^4)q^2L^2 \hbar \omega^2/3\pi fWM_{eff}c^3.$$
 (9.43)

for the electrostatic capacitively coupled case, and, from Eq. (9.31),

$$S_{\delta \alpha \prime \omega} = (1/2Q^4) (R'BL)^2 \hbar \omega^2 / 3\pi f W M_{eff} c^5$$
 (9.44)

for the fractional frequency fluctuation spectrum exhibited by the magnetically driven MEMS resonator. The numerical estimated show that the electrostatically driven resonator is much noisier than the magnetically driven one, when it comes to 1/f noise. This is because the magnetic dipole radiation is much weaker, being of higher order than the electric dipole radiation.

9.5. Conclusions

1- The quantum 1/f limit of BAW and SAW QCMs is given by simple formulas allowing calculation of the ultimate mass and concentration threshold of detection.

2- The devices are optimized by avoiding the $V=\varepsilon^3$ region.

3- The magnetic excitation sensors based on MEMS resonators have a lower 1/f noise limit. Than the electrostatically excited ones.

4- The quantum 1/f theory and engineering formulas developed here allow for the optimization of the design and implementation of novel, completely monolithic integrated MEMS resonators and sensors.

The author thanks Dr. J.R. Vig for suggesting the MEMS 1/f problem and for his advice in many ways.

B10. Coherent Quantum 1/f Effect In Cavity Resonators

Electromagnetic Helmholtz Resonators are oscillant systems that also include dissipative elements. If they are oscillating in a well defined mode, they are described by a simple harmonic oscillator equation with dissipative coefficient γ and resonance frequency $\omega_r = 2\pi v_r$

$$\omega_{\rm r}^2 = \omega_{\rm o}^2 + \gamma^2. \tag{10.1}$$

Differentiating this expression, and dividing by $2\omega_r^2$, we get the spectral density of fractional fluctuations

$$S_{\delta\omega/\omega} = (1/4Q^4) S_{\Delta\gamma/\gamma}. \tag{10.2}$$

The physical current density j, and the resistivity ρ , must exhibit fundamental quantum 1/f noise [125] given by
$$S_{\delta i/i}(f) = S_{\delta \rho/\rho}(f) = \Lambda/f, \text{ with } \Lambda = 2\alpha/\pi N.$$
 (10.3)

Here α is the fine structure constant. This is the coherent quantum 1/f effect [125] that is applicable, because the number of carriers in any "salami slice" is not smaller than 1. That slice is defined to be perpendicular to the direction of the current density vector in the wall of the resonator. Its thickness equals twice the classical radius of the electron $e^2/mc^2 = 2.8 \cdot 10^{-13}$ cm.

The spectral density of fractional fluctuations is thus the same for the conductivity σ and electron mobility μ in the resonator walls of area A enclosing the volume V. The coherent quantum 1/f formula was used for the quantum 1/f coefficient Λ . Using N \approx n₀A δ , for the effective number of carriers that is defining the notion of current, of γ , σ and μ , with n₀=N/V, and a well-known expression

$$O = kV/A\delta = \omega/2\gamma;$$

(10.4)

 $(k \approx 1 \text{ is geometrical factor})$ of the quality factor Q in terms of the penetration depth δ , we get the spectral density of fractional fluctuations

 $S_{\delta V/V} = \alpha/2\pi f k Q^3 V n_0.$

(10.5)

For instance, with v=100GHz, Q=10⁴, V=0.03 cm³, and $n_0=5 \cdot 10^{22}$ cm⁻³ we obtain $S_{\delta V/V} \approx 10^{-30}$ /f. This is a rather small quantum limit that may be hard to observe due to other fluctuations present, unless f is very small.

B11. Generalization of the Leeson Formula

The phase noise $L(f_m)$ of oscillators is described by the empirical Leeson formula [132], with a second term that was introduced by the author based on the quantum 1/f theory [14] under this Grant:

$$L(f_m) = 10\log\left[\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{f_0}{2Q_l f_m}\right)^2 + 1\right)\left(\frac{f_c}{f_m} + 1\right)\left(\frac{FkT}{P_s}\right) + \frac{f_0^2}{2f_m^2}\frac{1}{4Q_l^4}S_{\delta\gamma/\gamma}\right] \quad \text{(L-H Formula) (11.1)}$$

Here Q_1 is the loaded quality factor, f_0 is the resonance frequency, f_c is the flicker corner frequency of the device generating the oscillations, γ is the dissipation rate that causes the osillator's free oscillations to attenuate, and $S_{\delta\gamma\gamma}$ is the spectral density of fractional fluctuations in the dissipation rate γ . P_s is the amplifier's input signal power, and F is its noise figure. The bracket [] in Eq. (11.1) is S_q/2. This generalization represents a major breakthrough of wide scientific and technical application, that has been realized only recently, and that is formulated here for the first time in this form. This is the basis of our ultra-low phase noise effort in MURI #17/2001.

When he met the present author/PI at the 2001 Frequency Control Symposium in Seattle in June 2001, David B. Leeson enthusiastically embraced this generalization (Leeson: private communication). It is particularly important for high-tech, high-stability oscillators that are close to their quantum limit. It contributes the most important term in that case.

In modern military communication, radar and electronic warfare (EW) systems, the complex frequency, bandwidth and signal-to-noise (S/N) ratio requirements make the direct conversion (or homodyne) transceiver architecture superior to the traditional heterodyne RF transceiver-based approach. However, because it converts signals directly to (or from) the baseband, the direct conversion transceiver demands integrated circuits (and/or semiconductor devices) with *extremely low 1/f noise*. Additionally, because the gain provided by the LNA and the mixer is limited, the down converted signal is very sensitive to 1/f noise of the LNAs, filters

and mixers. For example, the 95S-1 direct conversion radio produced by Rockwell Collins covers input channels from 30KHz to 2GHz and requires an extremely low noise skirt (-140 dBc/Hz) near the baseband. The direct transceiver performance is also strongly affected by the noise performance and/or the spurs-free-dynamic-range (SFDR) of the subsequent analog-to-digital (ADC) and digital-to-analog (DACs) converters, especially when the analog-digital interface is placed close to the sensor/antenna for utilizing advanced DSP technologies. To meet the signal level variances present in typical SIGINT collection scenarios, a dynamic range of approximately 80dB is required. This is compatible with most SIGINT systems with a minimum detectable signal of -75 dBm and a maximum signal level of 0 dBm. Current state-of-the art in GaAs based ADC technology is limited to 60dB (12-bit) at 1 GHz. This performance is constrained by the *aperture jitter* of the current GaAs HBT technology (about 0.1 psec). The aperture jitter is the sample-to-sample variation in aperture delays, which can only be reduced by further decreasing the semiconductors 1/f noise.

On the basis of the LH- formula, from a system designer's perspective, the strategy to minimize overall phase noise consists in general of five basic steps. (a) One has to maximize the unloaded Q of the elements and the loaded Q of the circuit (Handel Q⁻⁴ law term), and (b) Maximize the reactive energy by using the highest possible RF voltage across the resonators. Since this is limited by the breakdown voltage, a wide gap device like a GaN FET should be used, if possible. (c) One has to select devices with a low corner frequency f_c and use a circuit design that minimizes quantum 1/f noise, and (d) Reduce phase perturbations by using high impedance devices such as GaN HFETs, where the signal-to-noise-ratio can be made very high. Furthermore, high biasing the active device (with feedback techniques) can minimize the modulation of the I/O dynamic capacitance. The capacitance modulation causes amplitude-tophase conversion and hence introduces phase noise. Finally, one has to (e) select circuit topologies with lowest possible noise figures F, and (f) with the lowest possible quantum 1/f fluctuation of the dissipation γ present in the resonant system (oscillator). Another important factor is understanding the large-signal properties of the devices and circuits, e.g., the noise upconversion and the degree to which the overall system noise is determined by the lowfrequency noise of the device. The high impedance and high breakdown voltage in GaN based devices offer unique new opportunities for the design of ultra-low phase noise amplifiers and systems. The design concepts will thus be drastically different from those used in the wellknown GaAs counterparts.

B12. Quantum 1/f Proximity Effect in Nanotechnology

12.1 Introduction.

Electrical currents in nanostructures of any nature exhibit unusual 1/f noise. They are usually in the transition region between two radically different components of the fundamental quantum 1/f noise effect. This transition region between the coherent and conventional quantum 1/f effects is described by the relation

$$\alpha_{\rm H} = (1/1+s)\alpha_{\rm conv} + (s/1+s)\alpha_{\rm coher} = (1/1+s)(4\alpha/3\pi)(\Delta v/c)^2 + (s/1+s)(2\alpha/\pi), \tag{12.1}$$

for the quantum 1/f parameter $\alpha_{\rm H}$, where s is a parameter which governs the transition and depends on the concentration n of carriers and on the transversal cross section area Q of the quantum wire, conductor, semiconductor, sample or device, perpendicular to the direction of the current. Specifically,

$$\mathbf{s} = 2\mathbf{n}\mathbf{Q}\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{0}}.\tag{12.2}$$

Here $r_0 = e^2/mc^2$ is the classical radius of the electron, $r_0 = 2.84 \ 10^{-13}$ cm. Therefore, s is twice the number of carriers in a salami slice of thickness equal with the classical diameter of the electron, normal to the direction of current flow. The resulting spectral density of fractional quantum 1/f current fluctuations $\delta j/j$ is then given by the quantum 1/f coefficient α_H through the relation

$$S_{\delta i/i}(f) = \alpha_{\rm H}/fN.$$
(12.3)

This resulting total dependence on N shows that although the spectral density $S_{\delta j / j}(f)$ varies monotonously when the current-carrying cross section Q is reduced to nanoscale dimensions, there is a plateau on which the spectral density remains practically constant, while α_H changes its value. This plateau is visible in **Fig. 6** on page 44 below. Along that plateau, it is possible to reduce the cross section Q (and the number of carriers N) of the device without causing the 1/f noise to increase. However, according to Eq. (12.3), this implies that in the transition region the corresponding quantum 1/f coefficient α_H increases when the number of carriers per unit length of the device increases, as required by Eq. (12.1). Physically, this corresponds to the coherent magnetic interaction between the current carriers.

The question arises then: How far does one need to physically distance two longitudinal halves of the current-carrying sample, mentally separated along the center plane parallel to the current flow, in order to preclude the influence of the carriers from either half on the $\alpha_{\rm H}$ of those in the other half?

This mutual enhancement of 1/f noise in the transition region between the predominantly coherent and the mainly conventional variation regions in cross section Q is what we will call "Induced 1/f Noise", or "Quantum 1/f Proximity Effect".

The effect is proportional to the mutual inductance M_{12} between the two parallel halves, or between two parallel currents at a distance d in general. This is shown in Sec. 12.2 below. The interaction between carriers, that is introduced by the magnetic field, causes the coherence present in the coherent quantum 1/f effect. There is a similarity between coherent quantum 1/f noise power and magnetic energy, or between conventional quantum 1/f noise and the kinetic energy of the drift motion. The total magnetic energy is not a sum of the contributions of individual carriers, but rather proportional to the square of such a coherent sum, i.e., to the squared magnetic field.

In conclusion, we expect the induced 1/f noise effect to vary with the distance d between two parallel elements of current proportionally to the mutual induction coefficient. This is applicable, e.g., to bundles of doped strands of DNA, used as conductors.

12.2 Derivation of the quantum 1/f proximity effect

Consider now two very long straight conductors of length L, of almost equal circular cross sections S_1 and $S_2 \approx S_1$, both with approximate radius of the cross section r, carrying currents $I_1 = \text{nev}S_1$ and $I_2 = \text{nev}S_2$ and separated by a distance *a* between their axes. Then the magnetic energy in Eq. (8.3) becomes, per unit length,

$$E_{\rm m} = (1/L) \int (B^2/8\pi) d^3x \approx [({\rm nevS_1/c}) + ({\rm nevS_2/c})]^2 \ln(R/r) - 2({\rm nevS_1/c})({\rm nevS_2/c}) \ln(a/r).$$
(12.4)

Substituting a/r=(R/r)(a/R) in Eq. (12.4), we obtain

$$E_{m} \approx [(\text{nevS}_{1}/c)^{2} + (\text{nevS}_{2}/c)^{2}]\ln(R/r) + 2(\text{nevS}_{1}/c)(\text{nevS}_{2}/c)\ln(R/a).$$
(12.5)

Here R is a practically infinite large cutoff of the order of the radius of the circuit that contains the straight conductor of length L. Notice that for a=r, when the two conductors are in contact, the second term in Eq. (12.4) is zero and the magnetic energy is the well-known energy of a single cylindrical conductor of circular cross section S of radius r. On the other hand, for a=R the second term can be combined with the first term in Eq. (12.4) to yield simply the sum of the energies of the two infinitely separated parallel conductors. The approximation indicated in Eq. (12.4) uses the same effective radius r in the argument of the slowly varying logarithm present in the first term, as is used for each of the conductors separately. Note, however, that using 2r or $r\sqrt{2}$ would ignore the additional magnetic energy caused by currents present inside the 2r or $r\sqrt{2}$ radius, close to r, where the 2 conductors touch each other. That would severely under-estimate the magnetic energy.

The second term in Eq. (12.4) is the interaction energy of the two conductors, given by minus the work W_m done by us in the separation process against the electrodynamical attraction force between the conductors,

$$W_m = \int F da = \int (2I_1 I_2 / ac^2) da,$$
 (12,6)

when the distance is increased from r to a. The integral from r to a in Eq. (12.5) yields the second term in Eq. (12.4) with opposite sign. The negative sign appears because in the separation process, the induced-Faraday-emf work W_b done by the system of energy $W=\Sigma I_i \Phi_i/2$ on the agency (e.g. a battery) to keep the currents constant is twice as large than W_m , and of opposite sign. In fact, while we are doing the separation work W_m on the system of two conductors, the system, in turn, must do on the battery twice the work W_m performed by us on itself, for the benefit of the agency that keeps the current constant in the two conductors. Indeed, denoting the fluxes through the circuits to which the two parallel conductors are belonging with Φ_1 and ϕ_2 respectively,

$$dW(I=const) = \Sigma I_i d\Phi_i/2; \qquad dW_b(I=const) = \Sigma I_i d\Phi_i; \qquad dW_m(I=const) = -\Sigma I_i d\Phi_i/2 \qquad (12.7)$$

with the sum Σ runs over i=1 and 2, we obtain for the differential dW of the energy W of the system of two conductors in the form

$$dW = dW_m + dW_b = -dW_m.$$
(12.8)

This explains the minus sign in Eq. (12.4).

Based on symmetry and $S_2 \approx S_1$, we use Eq. (12.5) to write the magnetic energy corresponding to the first conductor

$$E_{m1} \approx (nevS_1/c)^2 \ln(R/r) + (nevS_1/c)(nevS_2/c) \ln(R/a).$$
 (12.9)

To generalize the definition of the parameter s of Eq. (8.5)-(8.6), we divide Eq. (12.9) by the kinetic energy of the drift component present in the motion of current carriers in the first conductor, per unit length

$$E_{k1} = \sum mv^2/2 = nS_1 mv^2/2.$$
(12.10)

This yields

$$s \equiv E_{m1}/E_{k1} \approx 2ne^{2}S_{1}/mc^{2}\ln(R/r) + 2(ne^{2}S_{2}/mc^{2})\ln(R/a), \qquad (12.11)$$

or

$$s \approx s_1 + s_2\{[\ln(R/a)]/[\ln(R/r)]\},$$
 (12.12)

This form clearly displays the proximity effect in the second term of the expression obtained for the s-parameter in the presence of a similar current located at the distance a.

As we see from Eq. (12.1) and Fig. 6, due to the smallness of $\alpha_{conv}/\alpha_{coher}$ ($\approx 10^{-8}$ in our Example in Fig. 6) the 1/f noise spectral density given by Eq. (12.3) is practically proportional to s in the interval 10⁻⁵<s<1. This corresponds to the plateau in Fig. 6. What we have proven in Eq. (12.12) is that anywhere in this transition region of small to ultrasmall device sizes, the 1/f noise power doubles when we simply bring 2 wires or nanodevices closer to each other. When we separate them again, a 50% noise reduction can be achieved, by avoiding the proximity effect.

Our result can be easily generalized to arbitrary ratios between the parameters of the two wires, wells or devices, such as cross section, carrier concentration, drift velocities, etc. In this case the proximity effect will be given by a percentage larger than 100% in the smaller of the two wires or devices, and smaller in the larger one. The generalization to any number of conductors is also trivial. This effect, based on the quantum theory of 1/f noise, will negatively affect the efforts of nanoscale integration, if it is not avoided by quantum 1/f optimization of the layout.

In conclusion, we expect the induced 1/f noise caused by the proximity effect to vary with the distance *a* between two parallel elements of current as shown in Eq. (12.12). This result shows, e.g., for bundles of doped strands of DNA, used as conductors, that the 1/f noise will be reduced considerably in each strand, if the distance between them is increased.

B13. Low-Frequency Noise in Bent Ultrathin Semiconductors

In ultrathin semiconductor devices, surface scattering can no longer be ignored and significantly lowers the mobility of the carriers. This contributes a term in the scattering rate, which is proportional to λ/a in first approximation, where a is the thickness of the crystalline semiconductor sample. Since umklapp and intervalley scattering are the main limitation on the mobility of current carriers in silicon, and since they are affected by the largest conventional quantum 1/f effect, we expect a 1/f noise reduction in properly fabricated ultrathin semiconductor samples.

Ultrathin silicon samples and devices are obtained at the Univ. of California Irvine Microfabrication Laboratory in the Engineering Gateway building. One of the methods used by us involves uniform etching to reduce the thickness of the sample by an order of magnitude.

To estimate the conventional quantum 1/f effect (CQ1/fE) in ultrathin Si devices and integrated circuits (IC), we need to also include the effect of the reduction in carrier lifetime τ due to the surface recombination rate. This increases the 1/f noise in junction devices, because the quantum 1/f effect is inversely proportional to the number N of carriers which have participated in the generation-recombination-limited current transport through the various p-n junctions. This number is, however, given by the GR component of the current I multiplied by the lifetime τ of the carriers.

Assuming small samples, the CQ1/fE is applicable and is affecting surface scattering rates according to the fundamental formula

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma} = (4\alpha/3\pi) < (\Delta v/c)^2 >. \tag{13.1}$$

The brackets indicate a statistical average over the parameters of a surface scattering. We obtain the 1/f noise power spectrum by substituting a considerably increased thermal velocity for Δv , because of the surface potential (V₀>0 in n-type) in the presence of an accumulation layer, which is not applicable for V₀<0 (depletion in n-type material). However, the case of inversion would lead again to a 1/f noise increase in spite of V₀<0, but there is also a carrier identity switch which affects the result in this case, due to the difference in effective mass and scattering mechanism.

13.1 Surface scattering and bulk scattering

The total scattering rate is the sum of surface and bulk scattering rates. Therefore, the mobility μ will be determined from the mobility μ_b existent in the absence of surface scattering in the bulk material and from the mobility μ_s which would be present in that sample in the absence of bulk scattering

$$1/\mu = 1/\mu_{\rm b} + 1/\mu_{\rm s}.$$
(13.2)

The quantum 1/f fluctuations will therefore satisfy the relation

$$\delta\mu/\mu^2 = \delta\mu_b/\mu_b^2 + \delta\mu_s/\mu_s^2.$$
 (13.3)

Consequently, the CQ1/fE spectral density $S_{\delta\mu/\mu}(f) \equiv \langle (\delta\mu/\mu)^2 \rangle_f$ satisfies the relation

$$S_{\delta\mu/\mu} = (\mu^2/\mu_b^2) < (\delta\mu_b/\mu_b)^2 >_f + (\mu^2/\mu_s^2) < (\delta\mu_s/\mu_s)^2 >_f.$$
(13.4)

For the quantum 1/f noise in the bulk mobility we write

$$<(\delta\mu_b/\mu_b)^2>_f = (4\alpha/3\pi Nf) <(\hbar \Delta k/mc)^2> = (4\alpha/3\pi Nf)(0.75h/amc)^2,$$
 (13.5)

where m is the effective mass of the carriers, and the effective Δk was taken to be 0.75 G. Here G is the smallest reciprocal lattice vector $2\pi/a$, where a is the lattice constant and $h=2\pi\hbar$. Finally, $\alpha=e^2/\hbar$ c is Sommerfeld's fine structure constant and N is the number of carriers in the sample.

The conventional Q1/fE in the surface-scattering-limited mobility μ_s is obtained from Eq. (13.1) by substituting

$$(\Delta \mathbf{v}/c)^2 = 6kT/mc^2 + 2eV_0/m.$$
 (13.6)

This yields

$$<(\delta\mu_{\rm S}/\mu_{\rm S})^2 >_{\rm f} = (4\alpha/3\pi Nf)[6kT/mc^2 + 2eV_0/mc^2],$$
 (13.7)

where e is to be replaced by -e, and m by m' the case of inversion, m and m' being the effective masses of the carriers.

The final expression for the resulting power spectrum of quantum 1/f mobility fluctuation is thus

$$S_{\delta\mu/\mu} \equiv \alpha_{conv} / Nf = (4\alpha/3\pi Nfc^2) [(\mu/\mu_b)^2 (0.75h/am)^2 + (\mu/\mu_s)^2 (6kT/m + 2eV_0/m)].$$
(13.8)

In this expression the quantity in round brackets in the second term on the right hand side is always smaller than the corresponding round bracket present in the first term, corresponding to lattice scattering, and characteristic for the bulk material. However, the relative contribution of the two terms on the right hand side depends on the sample thickness. For a given sample this second term can be further reduced by treating the surface in order to obtain a depletion layer (with a small $V_0 < 0$ for n-type material).

13.2 Influence of dislocations arising from bending deformation

Uniform bending with a radius of curvature R will generate a surface density of dislocations of $\rho=1/aR$ and an additional volume density of defects $n_{dis} = 1/a^2R$ in the given ultrathin sample. Assuming we know the measured mobility μ_o of the given sample before bending, the theoretical mobility $\mu_1 = \mu_{lattice}$ of the ideal sample with no defects (limited by phonon

scattering, intervalley and umklapp only) and the concentration of defects n_{odef} in the given sample before bending, we can derive for the quantum 1/f noise spectral density of fractional fluctuations expected in the bent ultrathin sample the approximate formula

$$S_{\delta\mu/\mu} = \{(\mu_o^2)/[(1+r)\mu_1 - r\mu_0]^2\} S^{\text{latt}}_{\delta\mu/\mu}(f), \qquad (13.9)$$

in which $r=n_{dis}/n_{odef}$, and $S^{latt}_{\delta\mu/\mu}(f)$ is the theoretical quantum 1/f spectral density affecting μ_1 in an ideal sample with no defects, being caused by phonon scattering, intervalley and umklapp only. This formula is obtained by neglecting the quantum 1/f noise of defect scattering (both ionized or neutral, both impurity defects and lattice defects) compared to the much larger quantum 1/f noise of lattice scattering, including phonon scattering, intervalley and umklapp in the ideal lattice.

If a lattice constant of $a=1\text{\AA}$ and a bending radius of curvature R=10 cm are considered, the resulting dislocation densities of $\rho=10^7$ cm⁻² and $n_{dis}=10^{15}$ cm⁻³ have to be compared with the pre-existing concentration of defects n_{odef} . Assuming $n_{odef}=10^{16}$ cm⁻³, we obtain r=0.1. The resulting correction is a small reduction in the expected noise. However, this calculation neglects all current-redistribution effects which result from a non-uniform distribution of dislocations introduced by bending. It also neglects the effect of the decreased lifetime of the carriers in bent ultrathin ICs, in particular on the junction devices or on other unwanted junctions present in the IC. All these effects result in increased conventional quantum 1/f noise. The increased non-uniformity of the current distribution also results in an increase of the coherent quantum 1/f effect present in the larger samples as we see in the next section.

13.3 Deviations from the general 1/N dependence of the 1/f noise in the presence of a coherent quantum 1/f vestige

At this point we ask how the Q1/fE changes when we scale a macroscopic conductor, semiconductor, sample or device down to ultrasmall thickness. The transition from coherent to conventional Q1/fE is given by the relation

$$\alpha_{\rm H} = (1/1+s)\alpha_{\rm conv} + (s/1+s)\alpha_{\rm coher} = (1/1+s)(4\alpha/3\pi)(\Delta v/c)^2 + (s/1+s)(2\alpha/\pi), \tag{13.10}$$

where s is a parameter which governs the transition and depends on the concentration n of carriers and on the transversal cross section area Q of the conductor, semiconductor, sample or device, perpendicular to the direction of the current. Specifically,

$$s = 2nQr_0.$$
 (13.11)

Here $r_0 = e^2/mc^2$ is the classical radius of the electron, $r_0 = 2.84 \ 10^{-13}$ cm. Therefore, s is twice the number of carriers in a salami slice of thickness equal with the classical diameter of the electron, normal to the direction of current flow (see Fig. 5). The resulting spectral density of fractional quantum 1/f fluctuations is then given by the quantum 1/f coefficient α_H through the Hooge relation

$$S_{\delta i/i}(f) = \alpha_{\rm H}/fN. \tag{13.12}$$



Fig. 6: The quantum 1/f parameter α_{H} and the resulting spectral density $S_j = \alpha_{H}/Nf$ as a function of the number of carriers in the sample N or of the cross section size L

This resulting total dependence on N is shown qualitatively in Fig. 6 above for the transition from macroscopic dimensions to ultrasmall samples. It shows that although the spectral density varies monotonously when the thickness of the sample and thereby also the size of the current-carrying cross section is lowered down to nanoscale dimensions, there is a plateau on which the spectral density remains constant, while $\alpha_{\rm H}$ changes its value.

14. Quantum 1/f Effect in Spin-Polarized Transport and Spintronic Devices

The spin-polarized leakage current passing through a closed spin-valve is caused by electron spin-flip processes. The rate of these processes controls the rate of current flow. Without a spin-flip, the electron can't go through the valve. The electronic spin-flip rate is affected by quantum 1/f noise because the spin-flip emits bremsstrahlung just like any sudden current change $\Delta J=(e/L)\Delta v$ would do. The conventional quantum 1/f effect (Q1/fE) in any rate Γ or cross section σ is a macroscopic quantum phenomenon described by the quantum 1/f engineering formula,

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = S_{\delta\sigma/\sigma}(f) = S_{\delta j/j}(f) = (4\alpha/3\pi fN)(\Delta v/c)^2.$$
(14.1)

Here $S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f)$ is the spectral density of fractional fluctuations in current, $\delta j/j$, in scattering or recombination cross section $\delta\sigma/\sigma$, or in any other process rate $\delta\Gamma/\Gamma$. $\alpha=e^2/\hbar c =1/137$ is Sommerfeld's fine structure constant, a magic number of our world depending only on Planck's constant \hbar , the charge of the electron e and the speed of light in vacuum c. $A=2(\Delta v/c)^2/3\pi$ is essentially the square of the vector velocity change Δv of the scattered particles in the scattering process whose fluctuations we are considering, in units of c. Finally, N=LN' is the number of particles used to define the notion of current j, of cross section σ or of process rate Γ .

This applies to the quantum 1/f fluctuations of the electronic spin-flip rate, or decoherence rate, as mentioned above. Decoherence is caused by the elementary spin-flip of a nucleus due to its various interactions. The particular nature of these is not important here, due to the well-known quantum 1/f universality that characterizes all infrared divergence phenomena. The rate of this process has quantum fluctuations according to Eq. (14.1). It reduces the total magnetic moment M of the sample by the magnetic moment $\mu = e\hbar/2mc = 1$ Bohr magneton of a single electron spin undergoing a change of one h in its spin projection. The current change $e\Delta v$

causing bremsstrahlung is here $(\Delta \mathbf{M})/e$, the change in the rate of demagnetization caused by the emission of an energy quantum, a photon. This yields

$$S_{\delta\Gamma/\Gamma}(f) = 4\alpha < (\Delta \mathbf{v})^2 > 3\pi fc^2 = 4\alpha < (\Delta \mathbf{M})^2 > 3\pi fe^2 c^2.$$
(14.2)

Let N be the number of elementary magnetic dipoles $\mu=e\hbar/2mc$ present in the magnetic induction field B and aligned parallel to it. Applying a variation $\Delta N=2$ for a spin reversal, we get

$$\Delta n/n = \Delta N/N = |\Delta \mathbf{M}| / |\mathbf{M}|, \text{ or } <(\Delta \mathbf{M})^2 > = <(\mathbf{M})^2 > /N^2 = 8\mu^4 H^2 N^2 / \hbar^2, \qquad (14.3)$$

where we used Larmor's theorem $\mathbf{M} = \boldsymbol{\omega} \times \mathbf{M}$, with $\boldsymbol{\omega} = \mathbf{N} \boldsymbol{\mu} \mathbf{H} / \boldsymbol{h}$. Substituting $\Delta \mathbf{M}$ into Eq. (14.2), we get

$$S_{\delta j/j} = \Gamma^{-2} S_{\Gamma}(f) = 32 \alpha \mu^4 H^2 N^2 / 3 \pi f e^2 c^2 h^2.$$
 (14.4)

This is the spectral density of fractional quantum 1/f fluctuations in the rate Γ of spin-flip or decoherence (electrodynamical Q1/fE only). This spectral density of fractional fluctuations will affect the spin-polarized leakage current j through the device. There is also shot noise $S_{\delta j/j}=2ej$.

C. CONCLUSIONS AND RELEVANCE FOR U.S. AIR FORCE, DOD AND CIVILIAN APPLICATIONS

The research performed as part of this Grant project, under the direction of Dr. Gerald L. Witt, AFOSR/NE, has considerable relevance for the objectives of the U.S. Air Force, for DOD in general, and for many civilian industrial applications.

Indeed, the space and aerospace battle environment may involve nuclear exchanges, and this requires radiation hardening (Sec. B1-B4) of the airplanes and of their electronic and communications equipment. In addition there is a threat to the electronic equipment arising from some of the directed energy weapons. Even in the absence of conflict, the cosmic and solar radiation represents a threat, particularly in the region of the van Allen radiation belts, or the radiation zone of other planets. One of the major components of the radiation threat to electronic components is the instantaneous release of large concentrations of current carriers in semiconductors from sudden irradiation (for that we make only general suggestions, Sec. B3)). Another is the creation of a large concentration of defects in the lattice of the semiconductor materials used in devices, and the resulting change in the device parameters and in its electronic noise Sec. (B1-B2). Low frequency noise, in particular 1/f noise is particularly damaging, because it appears also as *phase noise* (Sec. B11), destabilizing RF and microwave oscillators and systems. The quantum 1/f theory provides a scientific understanding and an exact analytical description of 1/f noise and phase noise at every level, in materials, devices and systems. This description is in terms of concrete engineering design and optimization formulas, replacing the earlier empirical approach. This provides a clear superiority of equipment developed on scientific basis.

The formulas and concepts developed in this research show for the first time, from first principles, how the <u>1/f noise depends on the radiation dose and on its type</u>, in different types of electronic devices (Secs. B1-B2). This influences the selection of the devices used to design certain electronic systems with radiation hardening in mind, such as amplifiers, oscillators, and systems based on them, such as radars and communication systems, sensors, guidance and control units, etc.

An essential component of military and civilian electronic communications is <u>the</u> <u>antenna</u>. It is shown here to have <u>1/f noise</u> hidden <u>in</u> its so-called <u>radiation resistance</u> (Sec. B6). Multiple satellites and arrays, used to bundle a beam very well, are both affected by it, and we show here which way. Again, we develop the concepts and the corresponding engineering formulas for the first time.

The importance of **phase noise** for the Air Force is tremendous. A 10 dB reduction in the noise floor will reduce the bit-error-rate by a factor of 10^{-6} in DSP systems that process real-time inputs in a battlefield environment. In a Doppler radar, from the R⁻⁴ law, a 24 dB reduction in the noise floor corresponds to a 4 fold increase in range R. The new generation of low-noise electronic devices important for the Air Force, revolutionizing both high power systems (radars, radio, TV, microwave and THz transmitters, etc.) and ultra-low power (mini-receivers, MEMS sensors, MEMS frequency standards, THz receivers, etc.) is becoming possible due to advances in material processing and due to our better handle on 1/f noise and the resulting **phase noise**

(Sec. B5). This poorly understood subject was described with the help of the so-called *Leeson* formula. The present project has resulted in a modification of this basic engineering formula with an additional term that is dominant for high tech, high-stability oscillators in any frequency domain. This fundamental breakthrough is of tremendous practical importance for the modern high-tech industry. It will be reflected in the quality of future military and civilian gadgets across the board. It is well worth the sacrifice that the present author has brought for a long time, and particularly during this project, under most difficult conditions, and with little support, cooperation, understanding and recognition. To be able to carry out all projects and realize the discoveries that solved various puzzles and paradoxes, the author often had to postpone publication of major results in the open literature, and to use primarily invited or contributed papers at conference proceedings as his communication with peers. All this would not have been possible without the concrete, unwavering, scientific, moral and material support received by the author from AFOSR through Dr. Gerald Witt.

The quantum 1/f formula was used during this Grant to provide for the first time a scientific calculation and a practical engineering formula for <u>1/f noise in GaN/AlGaN HFETs</u> (Sec. B7). The agreement with the experimental data of professors Balandin, Wang, Vishvanatan et al. from the University of California is very good. These HFETs are of tremendous importance for the Air Force and DOD in general, being essential for the new generation of solid-state high-power RF and microwave generators.

Resonant tunneling diodes have a negative differential resistance region in their current voltage characteristic. **RTDs** (Sec. B8) are ideal for microwave generation up to the THz region. The quantum 1/f theory was applied by the author during this grant to find both the 1/f noise of the RTD, and the resulting phase noise of the oscillator (generator with resonator) based on such an RTD. This allows for the first time for a scientific optimization of materials, devices and systems for these application. They are also of considerable importance for the mission of the Air Force.

Of major importance for DOD and for the Nation in general, in particular after the September 11, 2001 tragedy, is the early detection of an attack with biological or chemical weapons, in particular a terrorist attack with anthrax, smallpox, the plague, poliomyelitis, nerve gas, etc. In June 2001, at the Seattle Frequency Control Symposium the author gave an invited talk on his research on the quantum 1/f limits of quartz microbalance (BAW), and SAW, sensors that are activated with the antigens displaying affinity to one of the pathogenic agents mentioned above. This research, giving for the first time the quantum limits of, and optimization tools for, the <u>biological and chemical sensors</u>, (Sec. B9) was done under this Grant. In general, the quantum 1/f theory and engineering formulas developed here allow for the optimization of both design and implementation of novel, completely monolithic integrated MEMS resonators and sensors.

The FET-based sensors and other sensors included in the "electronic nose" have also been perfected now to the point where they have reached their quantum limit. They are therefore limited by the quantum 1/f effect, and subject to Q1/f optimization. There also was successful work on Quantum 1/f Effect in Spin-polarized Transport (Sec. B14) during this Grant.

Another problem of practical importance is the effect of mechanical bending on ultra-thin semiconductor samples and credit card shaped <u>ultra-thin integrated circuits</u>. The deformation causes an array of dislocations, and a change in 1/f noise that has been calculated with the quantum 1/f theory (Sec. B13).

Finally, we have continued our investigation of the fascinating transition region between coherent and conventional quantum 1/f effect, because it corresponds to the size of present sub-

micron and nano-devices. This led to the introduction of the "quantum 1/f proximity effect" (Sec. B12) for the first time during the present grant. This fundamental effect causes the 1/f noise in a semiconductor wire to depend on the presence of other similar wires in the vicinity, carrying part of the current. It is like a mutually induced 1/f noise, present only in this transition region of sizes. This is startling to anyone familiar with the traditional phenomenology of 1/f noise, but unaware of the details of the quantum 1/f theory.

D. PAPERS WRITTEN/PUBLICATIONS

1. P.H. Handel: "The general nature of fundamental 1/f noise in oscillators and in the high-technology domain" Invited paper, CNRS Thematic Spring School on Frequency Noise in Ocillators and Dynamics of Algebric Numbers, Chapelle Des Bois, France, M. Planat Editor, Published in pp. 233-264 of the book "Noise, Oscillators and Algebraic Randomness" by Springer Publ. Co., Berlin, Heidelberg, 2,000.

2. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Effect and Quantum Computing" Proc. of the CASYS Int. Conf. Session on Foundations of Quantum Mechanics, pp. 3-15, CHAOS asbl Publ. Co., 2000, Liege, Belgium.

3. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Noise in GaN Materials and Devices", WOCSDICE 2000 Conference Book, pp. V7-V8, D. Pavlidis Editor, Univ. of Michigan Press, 2000.

4. P.H. Handel: "1/f Noise in Ferroelectric LiNbO₃ SAW Resonators", Proc. of the 2000 IEEE International Frequency Control Symposium, Kansas City, MO, June 2000, pp., IEEE Press.

5. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Effect in Piezoelectric Sensors", **invited paper** Proc. 55th Internatl. Frequency Control Symp., June 6-8, 2001, Seattle, WA., IEEE Catalog No. 01CH37218, Library of Congress No. 87-654207 (2001), pp. 430-437.

6. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Noise in GaN/AlGaN HFET's and Phase Noise in RTDs", Proc. of "XXV. Workshop on Compound Semiconductor Devices and Integrated Circuits" (WOCSDICE 2001), May 27-30, 2001, Sardinia, Italy, pp. 41-42, University of Cagliari Press, Massimo Vanzi, Editor.

7. P.H. Handel: "Phase Noise Estimation for THz Radiation from RTDs and other Solid-State Sources", Proc. 8th Internatl. Conf. On Terahertz Electronics, Sept. 28-29, 2000, Darmstadt, Germany

8. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Proximity Effect in Nanotechnology", **invited paper** Proc. 8th Foresight Conference on Molecular Nanotechnology, Nov. 3-5, 2000, Bethesda, MD: <u>www.foresight.org/conference/MNT8/Papers/Handel/index.html</u>

9. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Noise in GaN/Al_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N Doped Channel HFETs", *Proc.* 8th van der Ziel Symposium on Quantum 1/f Noise and other Low-Frequency Fluctuations, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung Eds., St. Louis, MO June 5-7, 2000.

10. P.H. Handel: "Expected 1/f Noise Reduction by Moderate Irradiation in High-Mobility Junctionless Nanodevices and Quantum 1/f noise in RTDs", *Proc. 8th van der Ziel* Symposium on Quantum 1/f Noise and other Low-Frequency Fluctuations, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung Eds., St. Louis, MO June 5-7, 2000.

11. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Noise and Phonon Coherence in BAW and SAW Quartz Resonators", *Proc. 8th van der Ziel Symposium on Quantum 1/f Noise and other Low-Frequency Fluctuations*, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung Eds., St. Louis, MO June 5-7, 2000.

12. P.H. Handel: "Induced 1/f Noise at the Transition between Coherent and conventional Quantum 1/f Effect", Proc. 8th van der Ziel Symposium on Quantum 1/f Noise and other Low-Frequency Fluctuations, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung Eds., St. Louis, MO June 5-7, 2000.

13. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Effect in Spin-polarized Transport", Proc. 8th van der Ziel Symposium on Quantum 1/f Noise and other Low-Frequency Fluctuations, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung Eds., St. Louis, MO June 5-7, 2000.

14. P.H. Handel: "New Insights on Fundamental 1/f Noise Theory and Applications", in "Noise in Physical Systems and 1/f Fluctuations", pp. 584-589, G. Bosman, Editor, World Scientific Publ. Co. 2001. [Proc. 16th Internatl. Conf. On Noise in Physical Systems and 1/f Fluctuations (ICNF'01)", Gainesville, Florida, Oct. 22-25, 2001. (Invited Paper)].

15. P.H. Handel: "Electrodynamical Quantum 1/f Noise of Electromagnetic Helmholtz Resonators", presented at the APS Spring Meeting, March 12-16, 2001, Seattle, WA.

16. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Noise in Resonant Tunneling Diodes", presented at the APS Spring Meeting, March 12-16, 2001, Seattle, WA.

17. P. H. Handel: "Theory of Quantum 1/f Noise in $GaN/Al_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N$ Doped Channel HEFTs", submitted to IEEE-ED Trans.

18. P.H. Handel: "Fundamental Limit of Chemical and Biological Resonant Micro/Nano Sensors", Proc. of the 9th Foresight Conference on Molecular Nanotechnology of Tomorrow, Nov, 9-11, 2001, Santa Clara, CA: <u>www.foresight.org/conference/MNT9/Abstracts/Handel/index.html</u>

19. P.H. Handel: "Theory and Measurement of 1/f Noise in GaN HFETs on 3 Substrates", Proc. of CANE/Phase Noise MURI Review, Univ. of California Santa Barbara Center for Advanced Nitride Electronics, UCSB Press, April 3, 2002.

20. P.H. Handel: "Noise" in *Survey of Semiconductor Physics* (K.W. Böer Editor) IInd Edition, Vol.2, J. Wiley & Sons 2002, pp. 203-219.

21. Sia, E.K., Chua, S.J., Hartnagel, H.L. and Handel, P. H.: "Quantum 1/f noise in epitaxial lateral overgrown GaN; piezoelectric effect", Semicond. Sci. Tech. <u>17</u>, 617-620 (2002).

22. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Proximity Effect in Nanotechnology", J. of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology" (2002). (submitted for publication)

23. P.H. Handel: "Linear Motor Speed Fluctuations and DNA Tension", J. of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology" (2002). (submitted for publication).

24. P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Optimization of Quantum Sensing in Spintronic, Electro-Optic and Nano-Devices", Proc. of SPIE conf. on "Quantum Sensing: Evolution and Revolution from Past to Future", San Jose, CA, Jan. 27-30, 2003. (Invited Paper). (in press)

25. P.H. Handel: "The Nature of Fundamental 1/f Noise in Quantum Sensing Technology, Negative Entropy and Uncertainty Principle", Proc. of SPIE conf. on "Quantum Sensing: Evolution and Revolution from Past to Future", San Jose, CA, Jan. 27-30, 2003. (in press).

D1. Examples of Quantum 1/f Papers recently published by others

(See "Quantum 1/f Noise" Index on MELVYL, the University of California Science Data Base and Library System for more recent titles)

1. J. Berntgen, J. Kluth and E. Behres: "1/f Noise of In0.53Ga0.47As Bulk Material", Annual Report 1999, Institute for Semiconductors, RWTH Aachen, Sommerfeldstr., 52056 Aachen, Germany (1999).

2. H. Ünlü: "Current Transport and 1/f Noise in Heterojunction Bipolar Transistors", Proc. of 15th Internatl Conf. On Noise in Physical Systems and 1/f Fluctuations (ICNF 1999), Aug 23-26,1999, Hong Kong, C. Surya Editor, Bentham Press, London, ISBN- 1-874612-28-5, (1999), pp. 295-299.

3. J. Berntgen, T.L. Lim: "The temperature dependence of the Hooge parameter _______ in 2DEGs", Annual Report, Inst. für Halbleitertechnik, Lehrstuhl I, Rheinisch-Westfälische Techn Hochschule, Aachen, Germany, 1998.

4. J. Berntgen, K. Heime, T.L. Lim, W. Daumann, U. Auer, F.-J. Tegude and A. Matulionis IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 46, 194-203 (1999).

5. J. Berntgen, J. Kluth and E. Behres: "1/f Noise of In0.53Ga0.47As Bulk Material", Annual Report 1999, Institute for Semiconductors, RWTH Aachen, Sommerfeldstr., 52056 Aachen, Germany (1999).

6. J. Berntgen, J. Kluth and E. Behres: "1/f Noise of In0.53Ga0.47As Bulk Material", Annual Report 1999, Institute for Semiconductors, RWTH Aachen, Sommerfeldstr., 52056 Aachen, Germany (1999).

7. *M. Tacano, A. Ando, I. Shibasaki, S. Hashiguchi, J. Sikula and T. Matsui: "Dependence of Hooge Parameter of Compound Semiconductors", AIP Proc. #466, VII. van der Ziel Symp. on Quantum 1/f Noise and Other Low Frequency Fluctuations in Electronic Devices, Aug. 7-8, 1998, Univ. of Missouri, St. Louis, MO, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung, Editors, pp. 35-41.

8. *M.N. Mihaila: "Possible Connection Between 1/f Noise Parameter and the Eliashberg Function", AIP Proc. # 466, VII. van der Ziel Symp. on Quantum 1/f Noise and Other Low Frequency Fluctuations in Electronic Devices, Aug. 7-8, 1998, Univ. of Missouri, St. Louis, MO, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung, Editors, pp. 48-55.

9. *A. Balandin, K.L. Wang, A. Svizhenko and S. Bandyopadadhyay: "The Effects of Low-Dimensionality on the Quantum 1/f Noise", AIP Proc. # 466, VII. van der Ziel Symp. on Quantum 1/f Noise and Other Low Frequency Fluctuations in Electronic Devices, Aug. 7-8, 1998, Univ. of Missouri, St. Louis, MO, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung, Editors, pp. 131-134.

10. *A. Widom, V. Kidambi and Y.N. Srivastava: "Soft Boson Radiation and Fractal Probability Distributions", AIP Proc. # 466, VII. van der Ziel Symp. on Quantum 1/f Noise and Other Low Frequency Fluctuations in Electronic Devices, Aug. 7-8, 1998, Univ. of Missouri, St. Louis, MO, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung, Editors, pp. 135-144.

11. J. Berntgen, T.L. Lim, W. Daumann, U. Auer, F.-J. Tegude, A. Matulionis and K. Heime, "Hooge Parameter of InP-based 2DEG Structures and its Dependence on Channel Design and Temperature", AIP Proc. # 466, VII. van der Ziel Symp. on Quantum 1/f Noise and Other Low Frequency Fluctuations in Electronic Devices, Aug. 7-8, 1998, Univ. of Missouri, St. Louis, MO, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung, Editors, pp. 59-70.

12. A.G.K. Huisso: "Processus stochastiques quantiques dans les Solides: Theorie du bruit microscopique et du bruit quantique 1/f" PhD Thesis, University of Montreal, Nov. 1998

13. S. Bandyopadhyay, A. Svizhenko and M.A. Stroscio: "Electronic Noise in Quantum Wires", Phys. Low-Dim.Struct., Vol. 3/4, pp. 69-90, (1999).

14. S. Bandyopadhyay, A. Svizhenko and M.A. Stroscio: "Why would anyone want to build a narrow channel quantum wire transistor?" Superlattices and Microstructures 27, 67-76 (2000)

15. H. Unlu:: "Modeling of Current Transport and 1/f Noise in GaN based HBTs". Proc. of the 16th Internatl. Conf. on Noise in Physical Sysyems and 1/f Fluctuations (ICNF 2001). World Scientific, 2001, pp. 213-16, Singapore (2001).

16. A. Huisso and C.M. Van Vliet: "Quantum 1/f Noise in Semiconductor Lasers", Proc. Of the Internatl. Conf. on Lasers '99, STS Press, pp. 391-9, McLean, VA, USA (2000).

Editorship: a) Edited Proc. of the 8th (2000) and 9th (2002) van der Ziel Quantum 1/f Symposia with A.L. Chung.

b) <u>Worked as co-editor</u> of the new edition of K.W. Böer's "Survey of Semiconductor Physics", by J. Wiley Publ. Co.

E. BIBLIOGRAPHY

[1] P.H.Handel, "1/f Noise - an 'Infrared' Phenomenon". Phys. Rev. Letters 34, 1492-1494 (1975); "The Nature of 1/f Phase Noise" Phys. Rev. Letters 34, 1495-1497 (1975).

[2] P.H. Handel, "Quantum Approach to 1/f Noise" Phys. Rev. A22, 745 (1980).

[3] P.H. Handel: "Low Frequency Fluctuations in Electronic Transport Phenomena", Proceedings of the NATO Advanced Study Institute on "Linear and Nonlinear Electronic Transport in Solids", p. 515-47, Plenum Press (1976). Editors: J.T. Devreese and V. van Doren.

[4] P.H. Handel: "Infrared divergences, radiative corrections and bremsstrahlung in the Presence of a thermal equilibrium radiation background", Phys. Rev. A38, 3082-3085 (1988).

[5] P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Noise in the Presence of a Thermal Radiation Background", Proc. II Internat. Symposium on 1/f Noise, C.M. Van Vliet and E.R. Chenette Editors, p.42-54, Orlando 1980. (University of Florida, Gainesville Press), p.96-110.

[6] T.S. Sherif and P.H. Handel: "Unified Treatment of Diffraction and 1/f Noise", Phys. Rev. A26, p.596-602, (1982).

[7] P.H. Handel and D. Wolf: "Characteristic Functional of Quantum 1/f Noise", Phys. Rev. A26, 3727-30 (1982).

[8] P.H. Handel and T. Sherif: "Direct Calculation of the Schroedinger Field which Generates Quantum 1/f Noise", Proc. VII Int. Conf. on Noise in Physical Systems and III Int. Conf. on 1/f Noise, Montpellier, May 17-20, 1983, V.M. Savelli, G. Lecoy and J.P. Nougier Editors, North-Holland Publ. Co. (1983) p. 109-112.

[9] P.H. Handel: "Effect of a finite mean free path on quantum 1/f noise", Proc. of the 9th International Conference on Noise in Physical Systems, Montreal 1987, C.M. Van Vliet Editor, World Scientific Publ. Co., 687 Hartwell Str., Teaneck, NJ 0766, pp. 419-422..

[10] G.S. Kousik, C.M. van Vliet, G. Bosman and P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Noise Associated with Ionized Impurity Scattering and Electron-phonon Scattering in Condensed Matter", Advances in Physics **34**, p. 663-702, (1986); see also the continuation: [10'] G.S.

Kousik et al., "Quantum 1/f Noise Associated with Intervalley Scattering in Nondegenerate Semiconductors" Phys. Stat. Sol. (b) **154**, 713 (1989).

[11] A. Van der Ziel, "Unified Presentation of 1/f Noise in Electronic Devices; Fundamental 1/f Noise Sources", Proc. IEEE <u>76</u>, 233-258 (1988); (review paper) and "Noise in Solid State Devices and Circuits", J. Wiley & Sons, New York 1986, Ch. 11, pp. 254 - 277.

[12] A. van der Ziel, "The Experimental Verification of Handel's Expressions for the Hooge Parameter", Solid State Electronics, <u>31</u>,1205-1209 (1988).

[13] P.H. Handel: "Fundamental Quantum 1/f Noise in Small Semiconductor Devices", IEEE Trans. on Electr. Devices <u>41</u>, 2023-2033 (1994).

[14] P.H. Handel: "Nature of 1/f Frequency Fluctuation in Quartz Crystal Resonators", Solid-State Electronics <u>22</u>, 875-876 (1979).

[15] A. Van der Ziel, "Unified Presentation of 1/f Noise in Electronic Devices; Fundamental 1/f Noise Sources", Proc. IEEE <u>76</u>, 233-258 (1988); (review paper) and "Noise in Solid State Devices and Circuits", J. Wiley & Sons, New York 1986, Ch. 11, pp. 254 - 277.

[16] A. van der Ziel, "The Experimental Verification of Handel's Expressions for the Hooge Parameter", Solid State Electronics, <u>31</u>,1205-1209 (1988).

[17] A. van der Ziel, "Generalized Semiclassical Quantum 1/f Noise Theory, I: Acceleration 1/f Noise in Semiconductors", J. Appl. Phys. <u>64</u>, 903-906 (1988).

[18] A. van der Ziel, A.D. van Rheenen, and A.N. Birbas, "Extensions of Handel's 1/f Noise Equations and their Semiclassical Theory", Phys. Rev. <u>B40</u>, 1806-1809 (1989); A.N. Birbas, Q. Peng, A. van der Ziel, A.D. van Rheenen and K. Amberiadis, "Channel-Length Dependence of the 1/f Noise in Silicon Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field Effect Transistors, Verification of the Acceleration 1/f Noise Process", J. Appl. Phys. <u>64</u>, 907-912 (1988).

[19] A.H. Pawlikiewicz, A. van der Ziel, G.S. Kousik and C.M. Van Vliet, "Fundamental 1/f Noise in Silicon Bipolar Transistors", Solid-State Electronics <u>31</u>, 831-834 (1988).

[20] A. van der Ziel and P.H. Handel, "1/f Noise in n⁺ -p Diodes", IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices <u>ED-32</u>, 1802-1805 (1985).

[21] A. van der Ziel, P.H. Handel, X.L. Wu and J.B. Anderson, "Review of the Status of Quantum 1/f Noise in n⁺-p HgCdTe Photodetectors and Other Devices", J. Vac. Sci. Technol., vol. <u>A4</u>, 2205, (1986).

[22] A. van der Ziel, P. Fang, L. He, X.L. Wu, A.D. van Rheenen and P.H. Handel, "1/f Noise Characterization of n⁺-p and n-i-p Hg_{1-x}Cd_xTe Detectors", J. Vac. Sci. Technol. <u>A 7</u>, 550-554 (1989).

[23] A. van der Ziel, C.J. Hsieh, P.H. Handel, C.M. Van Vliet and G. Bosman, "Partition 1/f Noise in Pentodes and its Quantum Interpretation", Physica <u>145</u> B, 195-204 (1987).

[24] A. van der Ziel, "Interpretation of Schwates's Experimental Data on Secondary Emission 1/f Noise", Physica <u>144B</u>, 205(1986).

[25] P. Fang, L He, A.D. Van Rheenen, A. van der Ziel and Q. Peng: "Noise and Lifetime Measurements in Si p⁺ Power Diodes" Solid-State Electronics <u>32</u>, 345-348 (1989). Obtains $\alpha_{\rm H} = (4.0\pm0.8)10^{-3}$, in agreement with the coherent state quantum 1/f theory.

[26] P.H. Handel and A. van der Ziel: "Relativistic Correction of the Hooge Parameter for Umklapp 1/f Noise", Physica <u>141B</u>, 145-147 (1986).

[27] P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Noise in Squids", Proc. VIII Int. Conference on Noise in Physical Systems and IV. Int. Conference on 1/f Noise, Rome, Italy, September 1985, A. D'Amico and P. Mazetti Eds., North Holland Publishing Co., pp.489-490.

[28] P.H. Handel, "Any Particle Represented by a Coherent State Exhibits 1/f Noise" in "Noise in Physical Systems and 1/f Noise", edited by M. Savelli, G. Lecoy and J.P. Nougier (North - Holland, Amsterdam, 1983), p. 97.

[29] P.H. Handel, "Coherent States Quantum 1/f Noise and the Quantum 1/f Effect" in "Noise in Physical Systems and 1/f Noise" (Proceedings of the VIIIth International Conference on Noise in Physical Systems and 1/f Noise) Elsevier, New York, 1986, p.469.

[30] P.H. Handel: "Starting Points of the Quantum 1/f Noise Approach", p.1-26, Subm. to Phys. Rev. B, February 1988.

[31] G.S. Kousik, C.M. Van Vliet, G. Bosman and P.H. Handel, Advances in Physics 34, 663-702 (1985).

[32] G.S. Kousik, C.M. Van Vliet, G. Bosman, and Horng-Jye Luo, Phys. stat. sol. 154, 713-726 (1989).

[33] P.H. Handel, "Any particle represented by a coherent state exhibits 1/f noise" in "Noise in physical systems and 1/f noise", edited by M. Savelli, G. Lecoy and J.P. Nougier (North - Holland, Amsterdam, 1983), p. 97.

[34] J.R. Vig and F.L. Walls: "Fundamental limits on the frequency instabilities of quartz crystal oscillators." Proc. 48th Annual Frequency Control Symposium, pp. 506-523, 1994.

[35] P.H. Handel: "Nature of 1/f frequency fluctuation in quartz crystal resonators", Solid State Electronics <u>22</u>, p. 875 (1979).

[36] J.J. Gagnepain and J. Uebersfeld: "1/f Noise in quartz crystal resonators." Proc. of the 1st Symposium on 1/f fluctuations, Sasakawa hall, Tokyo, Japan, July 11-13, 1977, pp. 173-182, Toshimitsu Musha Editor, Tokyo Institute of Technology Press, 1977.

[37] T.E. Parker: "1/f Frequency fluctuations in quartz acoustic resonators." Proc. 39th Ann. Freq. Control Symp., pp. 97-106, 1985; Appl. Phys. Letters, Febr. 1, 1985.

[38] P.H. Handel, Second Annual Report, AFOSR Grant #89-0416/July 15, 1991, p. 8.

[39] F.L. Walls, P.H. Handel, R. Besson and J.J. Gagnepain: "A new model relating resonator volume to 1/f noise in BAW quartz resonators." Proc. 46th Annual Frequency Control Symposium, pp. 327-333, 1992.

[40] P.H. Handel, "Analysis of quantum 1/f effects in frequency standards". Proc. 48th Ann. Freq. Contr. Symp., pp. 539-540, 1994.

[41] P. H. Handel, "Infrared Divergences, Radiative Corrections, and Bremsstrahlung in the Presence of a Thermal-Equilibrium Radiation Background", Phys. Rev. A38, 3082-3085 (1988).

[42] T.E. Parker and D. Andres: "1/f Noise in surface acoustic wave resonators." Proc. 48th Ann. Freq. Contr. Symp., pp. 530-538, 1994.

[43] C.S. Tsai, Proc. IEEE 84, 833-869(1996).

[44] F.L. Walls, P.H. Handel, R. Besson and J.J. Gagnepain: "A New Model of 1/f Noise in Bulk Acoustic Wave Quartz Resonators", Proc. 1992 IEEE Frequency Control Symposium, IEEE Publication <u>0-7803-0476</u>, pp. 327-333 (1992).

[45] A. van der Ziel, Noise: Sources, Characterization, Measurement. Prentice Hall, 1970, p. 113.

[46] P.H. Handel: "Coherent Quantum 1/f Effect in Second Quantization" in *Quantum 1/f* Noise & Other Low-Frequency Fluctuations in Electronic Devices, AIP Publication <u>282</u>, 29-31 (1993).

[47] J.D. Dollard, J. Math. Phys. 5, 729 (1965).

[48] P.P. Kulish and L.D. Faddeev, Theor. Mat. Phys. (USSR) <u>4</u>, 745 (1971).

[49] P.H. Handel and T.H. Chung, "Graphical representation of Quantum 1/f Mobility Fluctuation Spectra in Silicon" AIP Conference Proceedings #285, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung Editors, AIP Press, 1992, pp. 176-179.

[50] P.H. Handel: "Instabilities, Turbulence and Flicker-Noise in Semiconductors I, II and III", Zeitschrift für Naturforschung <u>21a</u>, 561-593 (1966).

[51] P.H. Handel, "Coherent States Quantum 1/f Noise and the Quantum 1/f Effect" in "Noise in Physical Systems and 1/f Noise" (Proceedings of the VIIIth International Conference on Noise in Physical Systems and 1/f Noise) edited by A. D'Amico and P. Mazzetti, Elsevier, New York, 1986, p. 469.

[52] P.H. Handel: "Turbulence Theory for the Current Carriers in Solids and a Theory of 1/f Noise", Phys. Rev. <u>A3</u>, 2066 (1971).

[53] P. H. Handel, "The Nature of Fundamental 1/f Noise" AIP Conference Proceedings #285, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung Editors, AIP Press, 1992, pp. 162-171.

[54] P.H. Handel: "1/f Noise Universality in High-Technology Applications", Proc. 1994 IEEE Internatl. Frequency Control Symp., June 1-3, 1994, Boston, MA, L. Maleki, Editor (Plenary Invited paper) IEEE Press, IEEE Catalog No. 94CH3446-2, Library of Congress No. 87-654207, pp. 8-21.

[55] P.H. Handel and F.L. Walls: "Analysis of Quantum 1/f Effects in Frequency Standards", Ibid., pp. 539-540.

[56] P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Noise in High Technology Applications Including Ultrasmall Structures and Devices", AFOSR 1989-1993 Final Techn Report 89-0416 of May 14, 1994

[57] P.H. Handel: "Coherent and Conventional Quantum 1/f Effect" Physica Status Solidi **b194**, 393-409 (1996)

[58] P.H. Handel: "The Physical Meaning of the Quantum 1/f Effect as a Form of Quantum Chaos", VI. van der Ziel Symposium on Quantum 1/f Noise and Other Low Frequency Fluctuations in Electronic Devices, University of Missouri St. Louis, May 27-28, 1994, AIP Proceedings <u>371</u>, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung Editors, American Inst. of Physics Press, New York, 1996, pp. 44-47.

[59] P.H. Handel and Y. Zhang: " A Bridge Between Coherent and Conventional Quantum 1/f Noise", Ibid., pp. 48-51.

[60] P.H. Handel: "Discussion of the Conventional Quantum 1/f Noise Source Term: Quantum 1/f Effect in Frequency Standards", Ibid., pp 52-56.

[61] P.H. Handel: "Two-Dimensional All-Optical Parallel-To-Series TDM and Demultiplexing by Spectral-Holographic Methods", Proc. 1997 Advanced Workshop on Frontiers in Electronics (WOFE '97), Puerto de la Cruz, Tenerife, Spain, Jan. 6-11, 1997, Editors G.S. Pomerenke, F. Schuermeyer, M. Shur and J. Xu (IEEE Catalog No. 97TH8292), pp. 81-85.

[62] P.H. Handel: "Entropy in the Conventional Quantum 1/f Effect", Proc. XIV. Internatl. Conf. on Noise in Physical Systems and 1/f Fluctuations (ICNF'97), Aug. 14-18, 1997, Leuven Belgium, World Scientific Publ., C. Claeys and E. Simoen, Editors, pp. 110-113.

[63] R. Nelson and P. H. Handel: "Determination of the Critical Fracture Strength and Breaking Force of Silicon Plates Used as Packaging Supports".

Submitted to IEEE Journal of Packaging Materials.

[64] P.H. Handel: "Incoherence and Negative Entropy in the Quantum 1/f Effect of BAW and SAW Quartz Resonators", Proc. Frequency Control Symposium, Orlando, FL. May 28-30, 1997, pp. 464-469, J.R. Vig, Editor.

[65] P.H. Handel: "Macroscopic Quantum Interference in the Conventional and Coherent Quantum 1/f Effect with Negative Quantum Entropy States", Proc. Internatl. Conf. on Macroscopic Quantum Coherence, July 11-13, 1997, Northeastern University, Boston, MA, World Scientific Publ.

[66] P. H. Handel: "Calculation of Incoherent Quantum 1/f Frequency Fluctuations in Low-Q BAW and SAW Quartz Resonators", Proc. 1998 IEEE Internatl. Frequency Control Symp., Pasadena, CA, May 1998.

[67] P.H. Handel: "Quantum 1/f Effect in Semiconductor and Magnetic Structures With Nanoscale Dimensions", 6th Foresight Conf. on Molecular Nanotechnology of Tomorrow, Nov. 13-15, 1998, Santa Clara, CA.

[68] P. H. Handel: "Coherent Quantum 1/f Noise in Samples of Arbitrary Shape", AIP Proc. of the VII. van der Ziel Symp. on Quantum 1/f Noise and Other Low Frequency Fluctuations in Electronic Devices, Aug. 7-8, 1998, Univ. of Missouri, St. Louis, MO, P.H. Handel and A.L. Chung, Editors, pp. 145

[69] P.H. Handel:"Quantum 1/f Effect in the Radiation Resistance of Antennas", ibid, pp. 162

[70] P.H. Handel and Chen S. Tsai: "Quantum 1/f Effect in LiNbO3 Crystals", ibid, pp. 156

[71] P.H. Handel and R.D. Nelson: "Low-Frequency Noise in Ultrathin Semiconductor Devices", ibid, pp. 151

[72] E. Simoen, C. Claeys, and H. Ohyama: "Factors Determining the Damage Coefficients and the Low-Frequency Noise in MeV Proton-Irradiated Silicon Diodes", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 45, No. 1, Febr. 1998, pp. 89-97.

[73] D. M. Fleetwood, M.J. Johnson, T.L. Meisenheimer, P.S. Winokur, W.L. Warren, and S.C. Witczak: "1/f Noise, Hydrogen Transport, and latent Interface-Trap Buildup in Irradiated MOS Devices", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol. 44, No. 6, Dec. 1997, pp. 1810-1817.

[74] M.D. Ploor, R.D. Schrimpf and K.F. Galloway: "Investigation of Possible Sources of 1/f Noise in Irradiated n-Channel Power MOSFETs", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol. 41, No. 6, Dec. 1994, pp. 1902-1906.

[75] M.D. Ploor, R.D. Schrimpf, K.W. Galloway, and G.H. Johnson: "Evidence for Border Traps in Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Transistors through 1/f Noise", Appl. Phys. Lett. 67 (5), July 31, 1995, pp. 691-693.

[76] D.M. Hiemstra, A.A. Kizeevi, L.Z. Hou, and C.A.T. Salama: "Dose Rate and Total Dose Dependence of Low Frequency Noise Performance, I-V Curves and Sidegating for GaAs MESFETs" IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol. **45**, No. 6, December 1998, pp. 2616-2623.

[77] A. Chugg and G. Hopkinson: "A New Approach to Modeling Radiation Noise in CCD's", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 45, No. 3, June 1998, pp. 1518-1523.

[78] D. M. Fleetwood: "Fast and Slow Border Traps in MOS Devices", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol., No. 3, June 1996, pp. 779-786.

[79] T. Dubbs, S. Kashigin, M. Kratzer, W. Kroeger, T. Pulliam, H.F.-W. Sadrozinski: "Noise Determination in Silicon Micro Strips", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 43, No. 3, June 1996, pp. 1119-112. [80] D.M. Hiemstra: "Dose Rate and Total Dose Dependence of the 1/f Noise Performance of GaAs Operational Amplifier During Irradiation", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 42, No. 6, December 1995, pp. 1615-1621.

[81] F. Faccio, M. Bianchi, M. Fornasari, E.H.M. Heinjne, P. Jarron and G. Rossi: "Noise Characterization of Transistors in a 1.2 mm CMOS-SOI Technology up to a Total-Dose of 12 Mrad (Si)", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. **41**, No. 6, Dec. 1994, pp. 2310-2316.

[82] R. Zuleeg: "Radiation Effects in GaAs Integrated Circuits", in VLSI Electronics Microstructure Science, Volume II: GaAs Microelectronics, Edited by N.G. Einspruch and W.R. Wisseman, Academic Press, Inc., (Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers), 1985.

[83] R. Winkler and S.T. Pantelides: "Charge Transfer and Dipole Moments of Polyatomic Systems", J. Chem. Phys. **106** (18), May 8, 1997, pp. 7714-7719.

[84] K. Lehovec, J.K. Notthoff and R. Zuleeg: "Supershot Electron Model for Ionizing Radiation Dose Rate Response of GaAs Junction Field-Effect Transistors", Appl. Phys.Lett. 56 (11), March 12, 1990, pp. 1052-1054.

[85] F. Saigné, L. Dusseau, J. Fesqyet, J. Gasiot, R. Ecoffet, J.P. David, R.D. Schrimpf, and K.F. Galloway: "Experimental Validation of an Accelerated Method of Oxide-Trap-Level Characterization for Predicting Long Term Thermal Effects in Metal Oxide Semiconductor Devices", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, no. 6, Dec. 6, 1997, pp. 2001-2006.

[86] C. Chabrerie, J.L. Autran, P. Paillet, O. Flament, J.L. Leray, J.C. Boudenot: "Isothermal and Isochronal Annealing Methodology to Study Post-Irradiation Temperature Activated Phenomena", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, No. 6, Dec. 1997, pp. 2007-2012.

[87] A.A. Abou-Auf, D.F. Barbe, M.M. Rushdi: "Worst-Case Test Vectors for Functional Failure Induced by Total Dose in CMOS Microcircuits with Transmission Gates", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, No 6, Dec. 1997, pp. 2013-2017.

[88] A.I. Chumakov, A.N. Egorov, O.B. Mavritski, A.Y. Nikiforov, and A.V. Yanenko: "Single Event Latchup Threshold Estimation Based on Laser Dose Rate Test Results", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, No. 6, Dec. 1997, pp.2034-2039.

[89] A. Scarpa, A. Paccagnella, F. Montera, G. Ghibaudo, G. Pananakakis, G. Ghidini and G. Fuochi: "Ionizing Radiation Induced Leakage Current on Ultra-Thin Gate Oxides", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, No. 6, Dec. 1997, pp. 1818-1824.

[90] D.M. Hiemstra, A.A. Kizeevi, L.Z. Hou and C.A.T. Salama: "Dose Rate and Total Dose Dependence of Low Frequency Noise Performance, I-V Curves and Sidegating for GaAs MESFETs", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol. **45**, No. 6, Dec. 1998, pp. 2616-2623.

[91] P.F. Manfredi, V. Re and V. Speziali: "Monolithic JFET Preamplifier with Nonresistive Charge Reset", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. **45**, No. 4, Aug. 1998, pp. 2257-2260.

[92] F. Saigné, L. Dusseau, L. Albert, J. Fesquet and J. Gasiot: "Experimental Determination of the Frequency Factor of Thermal Annealing Processes in Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Gate-Oxide Structures", J. Appl. Phys. 82 (8) Oct. 15, 1997, pp. 4102-4107.

[93] L. Dusseau, T.L. Randolph, R.D. Schrimpf, and K.F. Galloway: "Prediction of Low Dose-Rate Effects in Power Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistors Based on Isochronal Annealing Measurements", J. Appl. Phys. **81**, (5) March 1, 1997, pp. 2437-2441.

[94] S.C. Witczak, C. Lacoe, D.C. Mayer, D.M. Fleetwood, R.D. Schrimpf and K.F. Galloway: "Space Charge Limited Degradation of Bipolar Oxides at Low Electric Fields", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. **45**, No. 6, Dec. 1998, pp. 2339-2351.

[95] R.J. Graves, C.R. Cirba, R.D. Schrimpf, R.J. Milanowski, A. Michez, D.M. Fleetwood, S.C. Witczak, and F. Saigné: "Modeling Low-Dose-Rate Effects in Irradiated Bipolar-Base Oxides", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 45, No. 6, Dec. 1998, pp. 2352-2360.

[96] M.R. Shaneyfelt, P.E. Dodd, B.L. Draper, and R.S. Flores: "Challenges in Hardening Technologies Using Shallow-Trench Isolation", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 45, No. 6, Dec. 1998, pp. 2584-2592.

[97] R.J. Milanowski, M.P. Pagey, L.W. Massengill, R.D. Schrimpf, M.E. Wood, B.W. Offord, R.J. Graves, K.F. Galloway, C.J. Nicklaw, and E.P. Kelley: "TCAD-Assisted Analysis of Back-Channel Leakage in Irradiated Mesa SOI nMOSFETs, IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 45, No. 6, Dec. 1998, pp. 2593-2599.

[98] A. Paccagnella, M. Ceschia, G. Verzellesi, G.F. Galla Betta, P. Belluti, P.G. Fuochi, and G. Soncini: "Forward and Reverse Characteristics of Irradiated MOSFETs", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. **43**, No. 3, June 1996, pp. 797-804.

[99] I. Abt, L. Andricek, C. Bauer, H. Fox, A. Halley, H. Kroha, R.H. Richter, K. Riechmann, M. Rietz, R. Rübsam, H. Seywerd, and R. St. Denis: "Irradiation Tests of Double-Sided Silicon Strip Detectors with a Special Guard Ring Structure", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 43, No. 3, June 1996, pp. 1113

[100] Y. Saitoh, T. Akamine, M. Inoue, J. Yamanaka, K. Kadoi, R. Takano, Y. Kojima, S.Miyahara, M. Kmaiya, H. Ikeda, T. Matsuda, T. Tsuboyama, H. Ozaki, M. Tanaka, H. Iwasaki, J. Haba, Y. Higashi, Y. Yamada, S. Okuno, S. Avrillon, T. Nemoto, I. Fukunishi and Y. Asano: "Fabrication of a Double-Sided Silicon Microstrip Detector with an ONO Capacitor Dielectric Film", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. **43**, No. 3, June 1996, pp. 1123-

[101] S.D. Clark, J.P. Bings, M.C. Maher, M.K. Williams, D.R. Alexander and R.L. Pease: "Plastic Packaging and Burn-in Effects on Ionizing Dose Response in CMOS Microcircuits", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 42, No. 6, Dec. 1995, pp. 1607-1614.

[102] M.D. Ploor, R.D. Schrimpf, and K.F. Galloway: "Investigation of Possible Sources of 1/f Noise in Irradiated n-Channel Power MOSFETs", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 41, No. 6, Dec. 1994, pp. 1902-1906.

[103] Y.F. Zhao, A.R. Patwary, R.D. Schrimpf, M.A. Neifeld and K.F. Galloway: "200 MeV Proton Damage Effects on Multi-Quantum Well Laser Diodes: "IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, No 6, Dec. 1997, pp. 1898-1905.

[104] Y.F. Zhao, R.D. Schrimpf, A.R. Patwary, M.A. Neifeld, A.W. Al-Johani, R.A. Weller, and K.F. Galloway: "Annealing Effects on Multi-Quantum Well Laser Diodes after Proton Irradiation", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. **45**, No. 6, Dec. 1998, pp. 2826-2832.

[105] S.L. Kosier, A. Wei, R.D. Schrimpf, D.M. Fleetwood, M.D. DeLaus, R.L. Pease and W.E. Combs: "Physically Based Comparison of Hot-Carrier-Induced and Ionizing-Radiation-Induced Degradation in BJT's", IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 42, No. 3, March 3, 1995, pp. 436-443.

[106] A. Wei, S.L. Kosier, R.D. Schrimpf, W.E. Combs and M. DeLaus: "Excess Collector Current Due to an Oxide-Trapped-Charge-Induced Emitter in Irradiated NPN BJT's", IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. **42**, No. 5, May 1998, pp. 923-927.

[107] A. Wu, R.D. Schrimpf, H.J. Barnaby, D.M. Fleetwood, R.L. Pease and S.L. Kosier: "Radiation-Induced Gain Degradation in Lateral PNP BJTs with Lightly and Heavily Doped Emitters", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, No. 6, Dec. 1997, pp. 1914-1921.

[108] X. Montagner, P. Fouillat, R. Briand, R.D. Schrimpf, A. Touboul, K.F. Galloway, M.C. Calvet and P. Calvel: "Implementation of Total Dose Effects in the Bipolar Junction Transistor Gummel-Poon Model", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, No. 6, Dec. 1997, pp. 1922-1929.

[109] S.C. Witczak, R.D. Schrimpf, D.M. Fleetwood, K.F. Galloway, R.C. Lacoe, D.C. Mayer, J.M. Puhl, R.L. Pease and J.S. Suehle: "Hardness Assurance Testing of Bipolar Junction Transistors at Elevated Irradiation Temperatures", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, No. 6, Dec. 1997, pp. 1989-2000.

[110] Ph. Cazenave, P. Fouillat, X. Montagner, H. Barnaby, R.D. Schrimpf, L. Bonora, J.P. David, A. Touboul, M.C. Calvet, and P. Calvel: "Total Dose Effects on Gate Controlled Lateral PNP Bipolar Junction Transistors", IEEE Transistors on Nuclear Science, vol. 45, No. 6, Dec. 1998, pp. 2577-2583.

[111] R.D. Schrimpf: "Recent Advances in Understanding Total-Dose Effects in Bipolar Transistors", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. **43**, No. 3, June 1996, pp. 787-796.

[112] J.P. Spratt, B.C. Passenheim, R.E. Leadon, S. Clark, and D.J. Strobel: "Effectiveness of IC Shielded Packages Against Space Radiation", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, No. 6, Dec. 1997, pp. 2018-

[113] G. Bertuccio, L. Fasoli and M. Sampietro: "Design Criteria of Low-Power-Noise Charge Amplifiers in VLSI Bipolar Technology", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 44, No. 5, Oct. 1997, pp. 1708-1718.

[114]. S. Bandyopadhyay, A. Svizhenko and M.A. Stroscio: "Why would anyone want to build a narrow Channel (quantum wire) transistor?", Superlattices and Microstructures Vol., (2000)

[115] G.S. Vieira, S.J.Allen, P.S.S.Guimaraes, K.L. Campman and A.C.Gossard: Resonantly Enhanced Photon-Assisted Tunneling in a Multiple Quantum Well Superlattice. Phys. Rev. <u>58</u>, 7136-7140 (1998).

[116] H. Drexler et al.: Appl. Phys. Lett. <u>67</u>, 2816 (1995).

[117] K. Unterrainer et al.: Phys. Rev. Lett. <u>76</u>, 2973 (1996).

[118] S. Zeuner et al.: Phys. Rev. B 53, 1717 (1996).

[119] B.J. Keay et al.: Phys. Rev. Lett. <u>75</u>, 4102 (1995).

[120] A. Balandin, K.L. Wang, R. Li, A. Svizhenko, S. Bandyopadhyay: "The Fundamental 1/f Noise and the Hooge Parameter of a Quantum Wire", IEEE Trans. on Electron Devices, 46, 1240-44 (1999); See also Bull. Amer. Phys. Soc. March 1998 Meeting Proceedings.

[121] A. Balandin, S. Cai, R. Li, K.L. Wang, V. Ramgopal Rao and C.R. Vishwanathan: "Flicker Noise in GaN/Al_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N Doped Channel HFETs", IEE-ED Transactions <u>19</u>, 475-477 (1998)

[122] R.M. Warner Jr., and B.L. Grung: Semiconductor-Device Electronics, Holt Rinehart and Winston/Saunders, 1991.

[123] J.R. Vig, IEEE Trans. on UFFC Nov. 1999, pp. 1558-1565.

[124] J.R. Vig and F.L. Walls: "Fundamental limits on the frequency instabilities of quartz crystal oscillators." Proc. 48th Annual Frequency Control Symposium, pp. 506-523, 1994.

[125]. P.H. Handel: "Noise, Low Frequency", Wiley Encyclopedia of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, vol. 14, pp. 428-449, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., John G. Webster, Editor, 1999.

[126] C. T.-C. Nguyen, "Micromechanical resonators for oscillators and filters (invited)," Proceedings, 1995 IEEE International Ultrasonics Symposium, Seattle, WA, Nov. 7-10, 1995, pp. 489-499.

[127] C. T.-C. Nguyen, "Micromachining technologies for miniaturized communication devices (invited plenary)," Proceedings of SPIE: Micromachining and Microfabrication, Santa Clara, California, Sept. 20-22, 1998, pp. 24-38.

[128] C. T.-C. Nguyen, "Transceiver front-end architectures using vibrating micromechanical signal processors (invited)," Dig. of Papers, Topical Meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems, Sept. 12-14, 2001, pp. 23-32.

[229] C. T.-C. Nguyen, "Vibrating RF MEMS for low power wireless communications (invited keynote)," Proceedings, 2000 Int. MEMS Workshop (iMEMS'01), Singapore, July 4-6, 2001, pp. 21-34.

[130] S. Lee, M. U. Demirci, and Clark T.-C. Nguyen, "A 10-MHz micromechanical resonator Pierce reference oscillator for communications," Digest of Technical Papers, the 11th Int. Conf. on Solid-State Sensors & Actuators (Transducers'01), Munich, Germany, June 10-14, 2001, pp. 1094-1097.

[131] W. -T. Hsu, J. R. Clark, and C. T. -C. Nguyen, "Q-optimized lateral free-free beam micromechanical resonators," Digest of Technical Papers, the 11th Int. Conf. on Solid-State Sensors & Actuators (Transducers'01), Munich, Germany, June 10-14, 2001, pp. 1110-1113.

[132] D. Leeson, "A simple model of feedback oscillator noise spectrum" Proc. IEEE 54, 329-330 (1966).

[133]. S. Bandyopadhyay, A. Svizhenko and M.A. Stroscio: "Electronic Noise in Quantum Wires", Phys. Low-Dim.Struct., Vol. 3/4, pp. 69-90, (1999).